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2003 seems to have marked the end of the downturn. The results are still not brilliant,
but certain factors appear to confirm the efficacy of the robust structural approach we
have been taking, in line with new industrial strategies that should reopen the way to more
consistent levels of economic growth and performance.
The salient details of the balance sheet show an increase in turnover (2.3% up on 2002,
at € 389.874 million) which, while not big, was achieved in a market still depressed during
that period and therefore reflects a significant improvement in penetration for us. Profits
rose from € 1.876 million to € 5.560 million. Net indebtedness shrank by a further 20
million to € 97.368 million. In effect, all the indicators were positive, creating the
conditions in which we would be able to distribute a dividend again after a few barren
years.
We can now look toward the future more optimistically once again.
This outlook comes from the knowledge of having managed — despite the odd setback
— to complete a programme of internationalization affording excellent prospects of
competitiveness, a vital factor today in any plan for growth. And here we can highlight the
steadily improving results from Carraro business activities in India, Argentina and Poland,
three key points of a manufacturing integration project centred on areas selected for their
unquestionable cost benefits.
It is my conviction that we are seeing a worldwide transition of the economy, in which the
“old world” of Europe retains a pre-eminent role in the development of skills and the more
sophisticated production technologies, while countries of the “new” world, and notably
China (where we are initiating firm contacts), come increasingly into the picture by virtue
of the advantages they bring on the competition front. In effect, pre-eminence in terms of
quality and product innovation is essential if we are to strengthen our leadership, but it
has to be accompanied by certain economic conditions that are no less indispensable to
success. This is why we have set up manufacturing operations in the areas mentioned.
I have no doubt that the Group is well placed to embark on an important period of growth,
having plugged in at industrial level to what is by now a compulsory ”global” logic. This
however must not diminish the vocation of Carraro as an innovator — indeed the
company must redouble its efforts in the field of research. Here too the Group is well
placed, as it can rely on a worldwide network of resources able to interact with one
another in real time utilizing efficient channels of communication and an information
structure of the very latest generation.
Also of special importance to the plan for growth — in terms of volumes as well as results
— is the new organizational set-up based on Business Units. By aggregating the main
activities developed under previous initiatives (Drivelines, Drives, Components and Parts),
we are now able to focus on specific development projects, which can also be
implemented by way of engineering and trading alliances to guarantee a more predictable
coverage geographically. Neither must we forget that part of our mission, increasingly
evident today in the case of bigger customers, that sees us more as a supplier of
“Systems” than of single components, in what is effectively a partnership role. All this,
while maintaining a constant commitment to optimize the technical content of our
products, guarantee competitiveness and offer leading-edge services at every level, using
sophisticated management tools.
In short, if it is true that we have been theorizing for some time on the notion of a new
industrial era, then its advent is now an urgent need, given the way the economy is
evolving. The Carraro Group has spent several years preparing for this new reality, and
now stands ready to move forward with determination, aiming at successes which are
undoubtedly within our capabilities.

Mario Carraro
Chairman
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Financial Highlights

Carraro SpA 2003 2002
Net sales 275.896 273,093
Operating profit (adjusted due to exchange rate differences) 13,959 15,227
Net profit 8,310 -8,972
Shareholders’ equity 51,376 43,066
Cash flow 18,946 1,631
Return on Equity 19.30% -17.24%
Return on Investments 5.41% 5.80%
Staff (year and date) 844 853
R&D expenses on sales 2.33% 2.33%
Gross investments 9,996 11,073

Consolidated 2003 2002
Net sales 389,874 381,059
Operating profit (adjusted due to exchange rate differences) 19,113 13,539
Net result (net of minorities) 5,560 1,876
Shareholders’ equity (net of minorities) 53,409 50,564
Cash flow 27,837 23,945
Return on Equity 11.62% 3.85%
Return on Investments 5.09% 3.53%
Staff (year end date) 2,132 2,101
R&D expenses on sales 2.10% 2.17%
Gross investments 18,640 18,615
Amounts in thousand Euro
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Carraro Spa net sales
Breakdown by main destination markets
Total Exports 81.1%

North America
24.2%

Germany
6.0%

Brazil
1.2%

France
14.7%

Italy
18.9%

UK
13.3%

Others
15.5%

Czech Rep.
2.3%

Austria
3.9%

Carraro Spa net sales
Breakdown by product line

Agricultural 
and construction
equipment axles
65.8%

Agricultural transmissions
0.3%

Power shuttle transmissions
7.1%

Spare parts 
7.5%

Others
9.3%

Axles for on-highway
vehicles and industrial
forklifts 7.9%

Clutches
0.4%

Cam phaser devices
1.7%

2002

273,093 

Carraro Spa net sales
in thousand Euro

2003

275,896

2002

15,227 

Carraro Spa operating profit
in thousand Euro

2003

13,959

2001
-17,147

2002
-8,972

Carraro Spa net profit
in thousand Euro

2003
8,310

Carraro Spa Financial Statements
Charts

2001 

265,752 

2001

12,817 

2001
959 

2002
853 

Carraro Spa staff trend and breakdown
as at year end date

32%
White-collar
and managers

2003
844

30%
30%

70% 70%

68%
Blue-collar 
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1 Carraro Spa Campodarsego
2 SIAP Spa Maniago
3 Carraro Spa Gorizia
4 A.E. Srl Bologna
5 SIAP Spa Poggiofiorito

Carraro plants in Italy

1

2 3

4

5
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Consolidated net sales
Breakdown by main destination markets
Total Exports 83.32%

Consolidated net sales 
Breakdown by product line

Agricultural 
and construction
equipment axles
54.6%

Clutches 
0.3%

Final and swing drives 
4.4%

Drive systems for escalators
2.5%

Cam phaser devices
1.2%

Agricultural transmissions
5.4%

Gears
5.7%

Other 
6.2%

Axles for on-highway vehicles 
and industrial forklifts

8.1%

Power shuttle transmissions
5%

Spare parts
6.6%

Consolidated net sales 
Breakdown by area of application

Construction
equipment
39%

Agricultural applications
35.1%

Others 
8.5%

Material handling
6.2%

Automotive
3%

Drive systems for escalators
and gears

8.2%

UK
10.12%

Germany
14.41%

France
10.43%

Poland 
3%

Others extra UE
3.39%

Others area UE
7.06%

South Korea
1.8%

India
4.25%

South America
8%

North America
20.86%

Italy
16.68%

Consolidated Financial Statements
Charts

2001
385,623 

2002
381,059 

2003
389,874

Consolidated net sales
in thousand Euro

2001
9,177 

2002
13,539 

2003
19,113

Consolidated operating profit 
in thousand Euro

2001
-22,758

2002
1,876 

2003
5,560

Consolidated net profit
(net of minorities)
in thousand Euro
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1 Carraro North America Inc. U.S.A.
2 Carraro Argentina S.A. Argentina
3 O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH Germany
4 Fabryka Osi Napedowych S.A.  Poland
5 Carraro Spa / SIAP Spa / A.E. srl Italy
6 Carraro India Ltd.  India
7 Carraro Korea Co Ltd. Korea

Carraro plants worldwide

1

2

3
4

5

6

7
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2001
4,020 

2002
23,945 

2003
27,837

Consolidated cash flow 
in thousand Euro

2001
125,504

2002
117,264

2003
97,368

Consolidated net financial position
(debit)
in thousand Euro

Consolidated balance sheet structure
in thousand Euro

allocations 

31.12.2001

sources allocations 

31.12.2003

sources

net cash
available
74,484

current assets
78,640

fixed assets
105,747

shareholders’ equity
52,940

staff leaving indemnity
14,183

medium/long term payables
113,415

short term payables
78,333

net cash
available
85,812

current assets
72,881

fixed assets
95,654

shareholders’ equity
55,684

staff leaving indemnity
15,483

medium/long term payables
106,987

short term payables
76,193

allocations 

31.12.2002

sources

net cash
available
103,391

current assets
78,954

fixed assets
127,383

shareholders’ equity
66,249

staff leaving indemnity
14,584

medium/long term payables
121,265

short term payables
107,630
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Blue-collar
including

temporary
workers

73%

2001
18,266

2002
18,615

2003
18,640

Gross investments
(including disposal-related revenues)
in thousand Euro

2001
9,996 

2002
8,254 

2003
8,199

R&D expenses
in thousand Euro

2001
2,187 

2002
2,101 

2003
2,132

Carraro Group staff trend and breakdown
as at year end date
(companies included in consolidation area)

White-collar
and managers

27%

25%

75%

24%

76%







18

Income statement: reclassified

Carraro SpA 2003 2002
Sales 275,896 273,093
Cost of sales -241,947  -218,253
General, administrative, commercial and R&D costs -19,990 -39,613
Operating profit 13,959 15,227

Incomes/(Write-downs) from equity investments 5,178 -16,484
Net financial (Expenses)/Incomes -5,175 -3,191
Extraordinary (Expenses)/Incomes -123 836
Income before taxes 13,839 -3,612

Income taxes  -5,529 -5,360
Net income for the year 8,310 -8,972

Consolidated 2003 2002
Sales 389,874 381,059
Cost of sales -316,986 -299,996
General, administrative, commercial and R&D costs -53,775 -67,524
Operating profit 19,113 13,539

Incomes/(Write-downs) from equity investments -320 -140
Net financial (Expenses)/Incomes  -8,188 -7,197
Extraordinary (Expenses)/Incomes -875 -1,445
Income before taxes 9,730 4,757

Income taxes  -4,100 -3,629
Minority interests -70 748
Net income for the year  5,560 1.876
Amounts in thousand Euro
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Balance sheet: reclassified

Carraro SpA 2003 2002
Intangible fixed assets 4,324 4,790
Tangible fixed assets 32,693 34,230
Financial fixed assets (shares) 52,685 55,251
Net fixed assets 89,702 94,271
Inventories 34,155 36,148
Short term assets 78,321 86,750
Medium/long term assets 185 200
Short term financial assets and cash 54,774 44,058
Medium/long term financial assets 1,038 1,044
Total assets 258,175 262,471

Net worth  51,376 43,066
Provision for contingencies and obligations 4,340 4,136
Staff leaving indemnity provision 11,059 10,884
Short term liabilities  76,540 80,057
Medium/long term liabilities 103 104
Short term financial liabilities 55,940 62,641
Medium/long term financial liabilities  58,817 61,583
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 258,175 262,471

Consolidated 2003 2002
Intangible fixed assets 9,121 11,060
Tangible fixed assets  90,669 97,045
Financial fixed assets (shares) 9,627 9,681
Net fixed assets 109,417 117,786
Inventories 65,272 67,135
Short term assets 106,533 115,286
Medium/long term assets 2,195 3,925
Short term financial assets and cash 90,396 73,415
Medium/long term financial assets 1,448 6,490
Total assets 375,261 384,037

Total Group net worth 53,409 50,564
Minorities  2,275 2,376
Provision for contingencies and obligations 10,921 13,279
Staff leaving indemnity provision 15,483 14,183
Short term liabilities 99,677 101,328
Medium/long term liabilities 4,284 5,138
Short term financial liabilities  81,831 83,128
Short term financial liabilities for leasing 388 514
Medium/long term financial liabilities 106,933 113,086
Medium/long term financial liabilities for leasing 60 441
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 375,261 384,037
Amounts in thousand Euro
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The year ended 31 December 2003 could not but see only the start of the renewal
activities illustrated in our report on last year’s operations, in connection with the
appointment of the new managing director and the overhaul of the management
structure. The starting figures are immediately comforting, albeit not yet exciting.
This we expected, both in consideration of the natural initial difficulties in
implementing a rather wide-ranging strategic plan, and in the presence of still
contrasting economic trends in the various areas of the world where we operate.
We are therefore satisfied with net profit that has gone from Euro 1,876,000 for
2002 to Euro 5,560,000 for the year ended 31 December 2003, on revenues of Euro
389,874,000 only marginally higher than 2002 revenues (+2.3%) and EBIT that has
risen from 3.55% of sales to 4.90%, in spite of the negative performance in the
second half of the year of the subsidiaries in Korea and North America. We are
happy to emphasise that while the Argentine subsidiary has gone back to normal
margins, after the high profit reported in 2002 – mostly attributable to the effect of
the currency’s devaluation – we have seen a recovery of the operating sites on which
we count most for the wide-ranging growth plan that from now to 2007 should lead
us to decidedly high sales and profit levels. Thus both FON (Poland) and O&KA
(Germany) have reported profits and so finally, for the first time, has India, with
modest but significant net profit of Euro 141 thousand. These results are
attributable more to turnaround measures than to a real recovery, from which we
naturally expect much better results. We continue monitoring carefully our net debts
which during 2003 decreased further, by about Euro 20m, to Euro 97.368m,
promoting conditions where it will be possible to distribute again a dividend, which
will be proposed to the shareholders at the annual general meeting. This, together
with the result of operations, has contributed to improving the main financial
statements ratios. It stimulates us to continue decisively (and with some optimism)
to strengthen general fundamentals for our company more suitable to the economic
standing to which it can and must aspire. For greater details we make of course
reference to the comments on the main financial statements headings.
We think it equally important here to stress some aspects concerning the
management of the Group at the stage of evolution which manufacturing in general
is going through. Never more than now has the validity of the internationalisation
process pursued in recent years with so many sacrifices been confirmed. We should
perhaps reproach ourselves for the negative economic effects generated at first by
certain choices (sometimes occasioned by trade pacts) but we can also state that
the current growth targets on which the new strategic plan is based would have no
chance of being met unless we could count on the localisation of manufacturing
sites in geographical areas that together with strong prospects for local growth also
offer very competitive cost terms.
A logic of growth to which should be added, however, consistently with the
expectations of our major customers, a strong vocation for innovation that is based
on a consistent and effective organisation of research, resorting here again on a
global network of resources supported by an efficient technological structure. While
we are convinced of the validity of the work done so far, the new management is
called to choose stronger options so as to consolidate a leadership in research that
is a pre-requisite for growth. To be developed along strategic lines through the four
business units that the new plan (illustrated in detail further below in the section on
“Events of 2003”) projects on homogeneous product types and markets, factually
redesigning the Group’s organisation structure. A structure conceived in the logic
that underpins today relations with the major OEMs, in an increasingly organic
partnership, with an expanded offering tin the relevant markets. 
We purposely dwelled on certain organisational aspects of the Group’s operations
due to the importance that they have assumed in the global economic conjuncture,
being aware of the new roles in production activities that South America in the west,
but especially India and China in the east (the latter is the focus of an ongoing
analysis), are being called upon to play. Without imagining epochal scenarios of

Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 December 2003
Report on operations
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confrontation between our world, culturally more mature, but also older, and
continents that express an incomparable workforce and an irrepressible need to
grow. Hence the urgency, in general, of defining new international relationships in
order smoothly to negotiate a turning point that logically attributes a pre-eminent
influence to our continent in high-technology activities and knowledge development,
while transferring to areas of opportunity those segments where the manufacturing
component prevails.
We know that the will and determination of one sector, even if a still significant one
such as manufacturing, do no suffice for so radical a transformation as the one the
countries of our continent are being called upon to contend with. We hope that Italy
intends to compete as a protagonist – but this requires a huge effort at
modernisation – strengthening intellectual competencies that are indispensable in a
transformation of the economy that is already under way. But for us, as well as for
Europe, the urgency remains of getting the existing production machinery to move
at a much quicker pace, on the proven assumption that changes are effected while
the economy is running, while in stagnation they risk foundering.
As far as Carraro Group is concerned, we believe we can affirm that we have been
moving effectively in the right direction in a culture open to change and with a
shared determination to walk the road to growth in a global context where we now
feel to have our papers in order.

Sales
Sales of the group totalled Euro 389.874m in 2003, versus Euro 381.059m in 2002
(+2.3%). The growth of sales volumes was due to the good performance, already
recorded in the first half of 2003, of the holding company Carraro S.p.A. and of the
foreign subsidiaries Carraro Argentina, FON and O&K Antriebstechnik, and, in the
second half of the year, also of the subsidiary Carraro India.

Ebit
Consolidated EBIT rose to Euro 19.113m, 4.9% of sales, versus Euro 13.539m,
3.55% of sales, in 2002, a result achieved thanks to our continuing commitment to
improvement.

Financial charges
Net financial charges, excluding exchange differences, amounted to Euro 7.764m,
versus Euro 7.323m in 2002, equal to 1.99% of sales (1.92% in 2002).
The interest coverage, calculated on EBITDA with reference to total net financial
charges including all exchange differences, was 5.05, versus 4.91 for June 2003
(5.05 for December 2002).

Result of operations
The year 2003 closed with net profit of Euro 5.560m, versus profit of Euro 1.876m
reported in 2002.

Depreciation/amortisation
Depreciation/amortisation was recorded for Euro 22.207m, basically in line with the
Euro 22.817m of 2002.

Cash-flow 
The net cash inflow was equal to Euro 27.837m, up on the Euro 23.945m of 2002.

Capital expenditure
Capital expenditure, equal to Euro 18.640m, was almost unchanged compared to
the prior year (Euro 18.615m) and relates mainly to costs incurred to maintain
technological efficiency.

Research and innovation
In 2003 research and innovation costs were expensed for an amount of Euro
8.199m, equal to 2.1% of sales (Euro 8.254m, 2.2% of sales, in 2002).
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Net financial position
Thanks to a reduction in working capital and to capital expenditure being limited to
the value of depreciation, the net financial position as at 31 December 2003 (debt
of Euro 97.368m) improved on the debt of Euro 117.264m as at 31 December 2002
(debt of Euro 103.140m as at 30 June 2003).
Gearing stood at 174.86% as at 31 December 2003 (versus 185.29% as at 30 June
2003 and 221.50% as at 31 December 2002).
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Analysis by segment
Sales
The breakdown of sales by market shows an increase in the off-highway segment,
due to the introduction of new projects, while the on-highway segment shrank
mainly as a result of a downturn in the reference markets.
The schedules below detail sales by segment and by product line.

Breakdown by market/segment 
Amounts in millions of Euro

Segment 31.12.2003 % 31.12.2002 % differenza %

Off-Highway: 288.982 74.1 278.711 73.1 +3.7
Agriculture 136.708 35.1 139.070 36.5 -1.7
Construction equipment 152.274 39 139.641 36.6 +9.1

On-Highway: 58.178 14.9 62.857 16.5 -7.4
Material handling 24.069 6.2 25.410 6.7 -5.3
Passenger cars & Commercial vehicles 11.720 3.0 13.244 3.5 -11.5
Gears 22.389 5.7 24.203 6.3 -7.5

Stationary 9.633 2.5 6.152 1.6 +56.6
Spare parts 25.779 6.6 22.357 5.9 +15.3
Other 7.302 1.9 10.982 2.9 -33.5
Total 389.874 381.059 +2.3

Breakdown by product line 
Amounts in millions of Euro

Product line 31.12.2003 % 31.12.2002 % difference %

Traditional axles (AG + CE) 212.762 54.6 208.090 54.6 +2.3
Axles for light commercial vehicles 
and forklifts 31.732 8.1 33.347 8.8 -4.8
AG transaxles 20.836 5.4 14.544 3.8 +43.3
CE transmissions 19.615 5.0 19.561 5.1 +0.3
Gears 22.389 5.7 24.203 6.4 -7.5
Cam phaser devices 4.690 1.2 5.285 1.4 -11.3
Clutches 1.232 0.3 1.644 0.4 -25.1
Spare parts 25.779 6.6 22.357 5.9 +15.3
Final & swing drives 17.201 4.4 18.646 4.9 -7.8
Drive systems for escalators 9.633 2.5 6.152 1.6 +56.6
Other 25.005 6.2 27.230 7.1 -11.9
Total 389.874 381.059 +2.3

Sales of construction equipment, in spite of a market characterised by persisting
stagnation in Europe and a slight recovery only for certain segments in North
America, grew by 9.05% overall mainly as a result of the start of production on new
projects for new large customers.
The agriculture market confirmed a good performance in North America while
declining by about 2% in Europe, due to drought and water rationing in the summer
of 2003. In Brazil sales of agricultural tractors grew further thanks to renewed
Moderna Flota – Finame government financing for the agriculture sector, which
generated a positive effect on sales of Carraro Argentina.
Consolidated sales in the agriculture segment, while recording a significant
improvement in transaxles (43.3%), declined by 1.7% reflecting the end of
production of axles for one important OEM.
A breakdown by product line, consistently with the strategic plan that aims to
consolidate our core business, shows the growth of sales of traditional axles (+2.3%)
driven by the introduction of new products for important customers. Sales of
agricultural transaxles increased markedly in Brazil and India, where the good
performance of 2002 continued. 
Due to lower production volumes of some products for the main customer for our
tracked excavators, sales of final and swing drives fell by 7.8% on 2002. We have
taken significant measures to reorganise and re-launch this product line.
In the on-highway segment, sales of material handling equipment, with a good
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performance in North America but a 5% decline in Europe, fell by 5.3% overall,
reflecting the loss of orders from Korea, in spite of new orders from European and
American manufacturers.
The passenger cars and commercial vehicles segment, the focus of an analysis
aiming to define a suitable re-launch programme, was affected by the crisis of the
relevant markets. In particular, sales of cam phaser devices fell by 11.3% as a result
of the crisis of the automotive industry. 
Sales of gears fell by 7.5% due to lower orders in the period from July to October
2003, when sales volumes started to grown again and are expected to continue so
in the course of 2004. 
It is worth noting the considerable growth of sales of drive systems for escalators,
+56.6%, driven by the introduction of new projects which have led to greater market
penetration and multiplied the destinations of supplies, going from a regional
market to a global dimension in line with the strategic importance attributed to this
strongly growing segment. 
The rest of sales relate to sundry products comprising gear boxes, tie rods, ball joints
and other items, accounting for 6.2% of total sales with Euro 24m.
We note the growth of sales of spare parts, 6.6% of total sales, consistent with the
growth strategy of this business unit. 

Breakdown of sales by geographical area
% of sales

Geographical area 31.12.2003 % 31.12.2002 % difference %

North America 81.327 20.86 84.377 22.14 -3.61
Germany 56.178 14.41 51.340 13.47 +9.42
Great Britain 39.445 10.12 36.898 9.68 +6.90
France 40.671 10.43 39.998 10.50 +1.68
South Korea 7.020 1.80 9.577 2.51 -26.70
Poland 11.683 3.00 5.698 1.50 +105.04
South America 31.193 8.00 22.392 5.88 +39.30
India 16.569 4.25 13.586 3.57 +21.96
Other non-EU 13.233 3.39 8.052 2.11 +64.34
Other EU 27.521 7.06 32.846 8.62 -16.21
Total Foreign sales 324.840 83.32 304.764 79.98 +6.59
Italy 65.034 16.68 76.295 20.02 -14.76
Total 389.874 100.00 381.059 100.00 +2.31

The breakdown of sales of Carraro group by geographical area reflects the decline
of the market for backhoe loaders in North America and Italy and that of the
material handling segment in Korea.
Sales to the UK, Germany and Poland show a significant increase, also favoured by
the establishment of subsidiaries of multinational customers and by the presence of
manufacturing sites of customers for which we are working on new projects. 
We note a considerable increase in our share of the Indian market due to growing
sales of agricultural transaxles, and of the South American market in relation to the
growth of orders.
Very significant was the growth of sales to Poland, the South American market and
India which, achieving almost Euro 60m, prove the special attention paid to those
markets where the Group is present with manufacturing sites.
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Personnel
Personnel employed at group companies (including short-term workers, apprentices
and temporary workers), numbered 2,132 as at 31 December 2003 (1,628 workers),
versus 2,101 as at 31 December 2002 (1,587 workers).
If we consider the same consolidation area as last year, i.e. excluding personnel of
A.E. S.r.l. (63 employees) which was acquired in late December 2003 (see Special
Events of 2003), during the year the programme of headcount reduction started in
2001 continued.
In 2003, moreover, we started redefining the organisation structure, and the new
structure became official in September 2003. The changes made, which involved a
significant number of clerks and executives, make it necessary, in order to ensure an
effective human resource management and development process, to carry out a
wide-ranging exercise that involves mapping the existing job profiles, identifying the
new competencies required by the new roles created and/or filled, and mapping the
existing resources.
The project, devised in late 2003, started being implemented in January 2004 and
the first stage will be completed within April 2004.

Research and Innovation 
The year 2003 marks the start of a new phase in our research and development
activities.
In the context of the overall reorganisation of the Group, we redesigned the entire
structure, management processes and physical layout of the R&D function.
The new structure, which reports to a Drivelines & Drive Engineering manager, is
organised by product platform (axles, agricultural transaxles and construction
equipment transmissions, drives), includes a competence centre for auxiliary
technologies (electronics and hydraulics) and is supported by a program
management team that has been entrusted with optimising the management of the
development and validation resources and with monitoring the state of completion
of projects in progress.
The number of those projects, which increased significantly in the second half of the
year due to the start of large contracts, is expected to rise further in line with our
ambitious targets for the next four years; hence the need to adopt management
methods suitable to ensure an effective use of existing resources and to reduce time
to market.
Product development is therefore regulated by a new, formal, inter-function
procedure based on project management, a clear allocation of tasks and
responsibilities in the various phases of a product’s life cycle, the definition of
successive design review steps, and the orderly and methodical release of accurate
and exhaustive technical documentation.
In the course of the year we revised and upgraded the layout of the development
and validation area, reallocating all R&D staff within a single space, in order to
develop skill and knowledge sharing.
The threefold intervention, involving structure, processes and layout, underscores
the Group’s renewed attention to development, research and innovation activities as
the fundamental competitive levers for an enterprise that intends to build and
defend a privileged relationship with the OEM as a system integrator, both in
traditional segments and in new ones.
Among the most significant developments in the course of 2003 – all based on an
in-house developed electronic control module – were the new Powershift
transmission for tractors of up to 90 Hp, a new range of drivelines for backhoe
loaders, an innovative driveline for construction equipment based on a robotised
transmission and suspension axle.

Special events of 2003
In January 2003 the board of directors of Carraro S.p.A. appointed Mr. Gabriele Del
Torchio as managing director with the task of managing the business and devising
and implementing growth strategies jointly with the company’s chairman.
New Strategic Plan
The Group immediately started a formal strategic planning exercise, aimed at
ensuring the consistency of short-, medium- and long-term targets, the latter
identified within a competitive environment well defined by the new formulation of
its mission.
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The preparation of the Strategic Plan 2004-2007 was characterised by a top-
down/bottom-up approach: it involved all corporate functions, ensuring consistency,
fostering an entrepreneurial spirit and stimulating internal cohesion.
The stage of analysis of the Group’s competitive positioning led to the decision to
modify its organisation structure, in order to promote further the Group’s focus on
and presence in the various markets. In detail, activities were grouped around 4
business units focusing, respectively, on the segments of complete drive systems
(drivelines), hydraulic drives and electrical power-trains (drives), gears and castings
(components) and spare parts.
Each business unit operates as a separate ‘profit centre’, with its own targets and
profit and loss account, and has been given large operational autonomy and
flexibility for rapid and efficient management of decision-making processes. The
business units are supported by ‘competence centres’, whose task is to contribute
to defining the strategic choices necessary for the growth of the Group and for
improving management efficiency. Finally, ‘service centres’ manage the
infrastructure supporting the operations of the business units.
The change in organisation structure involved a revision of the key management
processes, from the product development procedure to the formal and informal
tools used to control performance and variances from the strategic guidelines.
All the above is in line with the best practices recommended by the ISO/TS
16949:2002 regulations, which attest the compliance of corporate processes with
the most advanced system of quality management in the automotive industry and
emphasise the importance of operating by inter-function processes, and with which
the Italian manufacturing sites of the Group have been officially compliant since the
end of 2003. Achievement of the ISO/TS 16949:2002 certificate is a step in our
strategy to bring Carraro Group in line with the most modern systems of business
management which, through continuous control of all the processes involved in
meeting customers’ requirements, in particular product development and
production, constantly strives to achieve continuous improvement, focussing efforts
on defect prevention, cost reduction and customer service.
The strategic plan was approved by the Board on 4 December 2003 and then
presented to the financial community on 11 December. Fundamental objectives of
the plan are: strong growth of sales in the Group’s major markets, constant recovery
of operating margins, and a marked improvement in the net financial position.
Consistently with the objectives laid down in the plan, on 23 December 2003
Carraro entered into a long-term agreement for the supply of axles to the Same
Deutz Fahr group, one of the world’s leading tractor manufacturers, with a full range
comprising models from 25 to 260Hp, including specialist and tracked tractors,
under the trademarks Same, Lamborghini, Hürlimann and Deutz-Fahr. In the context
of this agreement, Carraro acquired control of A.E. S.r.l. from Same Deutz Fahr Italia
S.p.A.. The new subsidiary, based in Castello d’Argile (Bologna) and with 63
employees, currently covers 75% of the requirement for axles of the Same Deutz
Fahr group. The purchase consideration was Euro 10,000, corresponding to the net
equity value, and only the entity’s assets and liabilities were consolidated into
Carraro as at 31 December 2003.
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Performance of consolidated companies
We report herebelow the most significant financial information referred to
operations of the entities of Carraro group.

Carraro S.p.A.
In 2003 the holding company made sales of Euro 275.896m, up 1% on the
Euro 273.093m of 2002. The increase is attributable to the growth of sales of
traditional axles (+2.9%), in particular in the construction equipment segment, due
to the start of new supply contracts.
Exports accounted for 81.1% of total sales, versus 77.8% in 2002. The main markets
were the USA with 24.2% (22.8% in 2002) and the European Union (excluding Italy)
with 41% (41.1% in 2002).
If, on the one hand, the start of new contracts resulted in the growth of sales
volumes, on the other hand it had an adverse impact on the operating margin which,
at this stage, reflects the natural lower profitability of new supplies. EBIT for 2003
was equal to Euro 13.959m (5.06% of sales) versus Euro 15.227m for 2002 (5.58%
of sales).
Net financial charges after exchange differences and hedging costs amounted to
Euro 5.280m (1.91% of sales), up on the Euro 4.310m (1.58% of sales) of the prior
year.
In 2003 the holding company received dividends from the subsidiary SIAP S.p.A. for
an amount of Euro 4.884m.
As a result of the losses reported by the subsidiary Carraro International, in turn
caused by the losses reported by its subsidiaries Carraro North America and Carraro
Korea, the carrying value of the Luxembourg-based entity was adjusted to the
corresponding net equity value, recording an impairment write-down of
Euro 2.446m.
After the above entries and after net current and deferred taxes of Euro 5.529m,
Carraro S.p.A. closed the year 2003 with profit of Euro 8.310m, versus the loss of
Euro 8.972m reported in 2002 when, as you will remember, performance was
affected to a significant extent by impairment write-downs of equity interests in
certain subsidiaries, for an amount of Euro16.484m.
Depreciation/amortisation, equal to Euro 10.636m, was substantially in line with the
Euro 10.603m of 2002.
This resulted in a net cash inflow of Euro 18,946m, versus Euro 1.631m in 2002.
Gross capital expenditure in 2003 totalled Euro 9.996m, versus Euro 11.073m in
2002, and related mainly to the purchase of new machinery to upgrade the
production lines.
The net financial position as at 31 December 2003, debt of Euro 58.945m, improved
on debt of Euro 67.872m as at 30 June 2003 (Euro 79.122m as at 31 December
2002) as a result of a reduction in working capital and to capital expenditure being
limited to the value of depreciation.
The headcount as at 31 December 2003, including temporary workers, was 844
(862 as at 30 June 2003), versus 853 as at 31 December 2002.

Turnover Turnover Employees at Employees at

2003 2002 31.12.2003 31.12.2002

Carraro 275,896 273,093 844 853
SIAP 53,866 55,477 363 390
A.E. 2,885 63
Carraro North America 1,155 4,295 3 13
Carraro Korea 6,522 9,338 31 20
Carraro Argentina 34,874 29,658 251 211
Carraro India 16,322 15,073 156 121
FON 8,440 5,823 214 258
O&K Antriebstechnik 46,375 42,217 207 235
Total 446,335* 434,974* 2,132 2,101

*Aggregated Turnover

Amounts in thousand Euro
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Siap S.p.A.
Sales in 2003 totalled Euro 53.866m, down on Euro 55.477m in 2002. The decrease
was caused by a temporary decline in orders, mainly in the period from July to
October 2003, when sales resumed growing as they are bound to do in the course
of 2004.
This notwithstanding, and as a result of a continuing cost-cutting policy, EBIT
amounted to Euro 2.973m (5.52% of sales), up on Euro 2.886m (5.2% of sales) for
2002.
Net financial charges of 2003 were equal to Euro 0.861m (1.6% of sales), up on the
prior year (Euro 0.771m, 1.39%).
Profit for the period, in line with the prior year, was equal to Euro 0.834m
(Euro 0.829m for 2002).
Depreciation/amortisation was charged for Euro 5.349m, versus Euro 5.433m in
2002 which, together with the profit for the period, generated a net cash inflow of
Euro 6.183m (Euro 6.262m in 2002).
Capital expenditure, equal to Euro 4.299m (Euro 4.877m in 2002), was made to
purchase technologically more advanced machinery.
In spite of a dividend of Euro 4.884m, the net financial position as at 31 December
2003, debt of Euro 15.320m, improved on 31 December 2002 (debt of
Euro 16.515m) as a result of a reduction of working capital.
The headcount as at 31 December 2003 was 363 versus 390 as at 31 December
2003 (392 as at 30 June 2003).

Carraro India Ltd.
Sales in 2003 were equal to Euro 16.322m, up 8.3% on Euro 15.073m in 2002,
thanks to a resumption of orders that reflects a new promising growth phase.
The industrial rationalisation, already started, produced its effects contributing to the
rise of EBIT, which in 2003 was equal to Euro 1.509m, 9.25% of sales (Euro 1.023m,
6.79% of sales, in 2002).
In spite of net financial charges of Euro 1.049m (Euro 1.341m in 2002), a figure that
has remained substantially unchanged in recent years, and exchange losses of
Euro 0.316m due both to financing payables denominated in euros and to trade
payables denominated in US dollars, the entity closed the year 2003, for the first
time since it was started up, with net profit of Euro 0.141m (versus a loss of
Euro 1.419m in 2002).
Depreciation/amortisation was equal to Euro 1.457m, versus Euro 1.218m in 2002,
giving a net cash inflow of Euro 1.598m (versus a net cash outflow of Euro 0.201m
in 2002).
Capital expenditure, amounting to Euro 0.371m in 2003 (Euro 0.442m in 2002),
was made solely to maintain production capacity. 
The net financial position as at 31 December 2003 was equal to Euro 9.836m, an
improvement both on 30 June 2003, when net debt was equal to Euro 11.866m,
and on 31 December 2002, when net debt was equal to Euro 12.502m. In spite of
this improvement, our future plans will require an extraordinary finance operation
which we invite our partner to discuss.
The headcount as at 31 December 2003 was 156 (124 as at 30 June 2003, 121 as
at 31 December 2002).

Carraro Argentina S.A.
Sales volumes of the Argentine subsidiary have continued to grow, benefiting, since
the first half of the year, from the good performance of tractors in Brazil.
Sales of 2003 totalled Euro 34.874m, versus Euro 29.658m in 2002, up 17.6%.
EBIT was equal to Euro 2.437m, 6.99% of sales, down on the exceptional figure of
the prior year, equal to Euro 7.468m (25.18% of sales), which as you will remember
reflected the devaluation of the peso in early 2002.
Net financial charges fell to Euro 41,000 (Euro 191,000 in 2002) and, together with
net exchange gains of Euro 16,000 (net exchange losses of Euro 4.395m in 2002),
the year 2003 closed with  profit of Euro 1.884m (Euro 2.847m for the year ended
31 December 2002). 
Depreciation/amortisation, equal to Euro 1.214m, was substantially in line with the
Euro 1.186m in 2002.
Cash flow was equal to Euro 3.098m (Euro 4.033m in 2002).
To support increased demand, capital expenditure was made for an amount of
Euro 1.306m (Euro 0.747m in 2002).
The net financial position as at 31 December 2003, assets of Euro 0.589m, declined
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on 30 June 2003, assets of Euro 1.198m, due to additional capital expenditure
(assets of Euro 0.080m as at 31 December 2002). 
The headcount as at 31 December 2003 was 251 (256 as at 30 June 2003, 211 as
at 31 December 2002).

Fabryka Osi Napedowych S.A.
Also for the Polish subsidiary, as for the Indian one, the reorganisation of production
activities started bearing fruit. Sales of 2003, equal to Euro 8.440m, were 44.9% up
on 2002 (Euro 5.823m), which confirms the good performance of the first half of
2003, thanks to the growth of sales destined mainly to the Group’s programmes.
Also EBIT benefited from the reorganisation and, for the first time since December
2000, profit was reported for an amount of Euro 0.371m, 4.40% of sales (versus an
operating loss of Euro 0.289m reported in 2002).
Net financial charges after exchange differences amounted to Euro 0.172m
(Euro 0.028m in 2002).
F.O.N. S.A. closed 2003 with net profit of Euro 0.005m (0.06% of sales), versus a net
loss of Euro 0.345m for 2002. After depreciation/amortisation of Euro 0.409m
(Euro 0.367m in 2002), the net cash inflow was equal to Euro 0.414m (Euro 0.022m
in 2002).
Capital expenditure rose significantly in 2003, totalling Euro 2.075m (Euro 1.227m
in 2002) and was made to support the industrial transformation that is the first
phase of a programme to support an important strengthening of production
activities within the Group, consistently with the indications of the strategic plan.
As a result, the net financial position as at 31 December 2003, debt of Euro 3.974m,
exceeded the debt of Euro 2.124m as at 31 December 2002 (Euro 3.292m as at 30
June 2003).
The headcount as at 31 December 2003 was 214, down on 258 as at 31 December
2002 (234 as at 30 June 2003).

Carraro Deutschland GmbH
This entity is a financial holding company and owns 100% of O&K Antriebstechnik
GmbH.
The year 2003 closed with a loss of Euro 0.021m, versus a loss of Euro 13.234m for
the year ended 31 December 2002, due to the impairment write-down of the
investment in the subsidiary O&KA.

O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH
The growth of sales of the German subsidiary, already recorded in the first half of
2003, due to the start of new supply contracts, was confirmed also at the end of the
year, with a total of Euro 46.375m, up 9.8% on the Euro 42.217m of 2002.
EBIT was equal to profit of Euro 0.962m, 2.08% of sales (versus an operating loss
of Euro 0.625m, -1.48% of sales, in 2002).
Net financial charges amounted to Euro 0.371m, versus Euro 0.179m in 2002.
The entity closed the year 2003 with profit of Euro 0.528m, reversing the result for
the prior period, a loss of Euro 3.013m (which, as you will remember, included
accruals for restructuring costs of Euro 2m).
After depreciation/amortisation of Euro 0.999m (Euro 1.102m in 2002), the net
cash inflow was equal to Euro 1.527m (versus a net cash outflow of Euro 1.911m in
2002).
Capital expenditure totalled Euro 0.651m (Euro 0.783m in 2002).
The net financial position al 31 December 2003 was debt of Euro 3.577m
(Euro 3.707m as at 30 June 2003 and Euro 2.271m as at 31 December 2002) as a
result of the restructuring plan implemented in 2002.
The headcount as at 31 December 2003 was 207 (235 as at 31 December 2002,
222 as at 30 June 2003). The headcount reduction was a consequence of the
restructuring plan referred to above (as at 31 December 2001 the headcount was
289).

Carraro International S.A.
This financial holding company closed the year 2003 with a loss of Euro 2.446m,
which includes impairment write-downs of the equity interests in Carraro Korea, for
an amount of Euro 1.238m, and Carraro North America, for an amount of
Euro 1.208m.
The net financial position as at 31 December 2003 was debt of Euro 1.532m
(Euro 1.680m as at 31 December 2002, Euro 1.581m as at 30 June 2003).
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Carraro North America Inc.
During 2003, the entity curtailed its operations as required by the restructuring plan
and went back to operating mostly as a trading company, however, an assessment
is being conducted of the possibility of resuming manufacturing operations in the
context of cooperation agreements.
Sales for 2003 fell to Euro 1.155m, from Euro 4.295m of 2002. As a result of the
industrial transformation, in contrast to the planned gradual termination of
personnel with the related costs being deferred in time, the entity incurred all costs
in 2003, which generated an operating loss of Euro 0.871m, -75.40% of sales
(versus an operating loss of Euro 0.554m, -12.91% of sales, in 2002). After net
financial charges of Euro 0.065m (Euro 0.112m in 2002) and exchange gains of
Euro 0.035m, the entity closed the year with a loss of Euro 1.085m (versus a loss of
Euro 0.552 for the year ended 31 December 2002).
With depreciation/amortisation of Euro 0.534m (0.639 al 31.12.2002), the net cash
outflow amounted to Euro 0.551m (versus a net cash inflow of Euro 0.087m in
2002).
As in 2002, also in 2003 no capital expenditure was made.
The net financial position as at 31 December 2003 was debt of 3.088m, slightly
lower than Euro 3.550m as at 31 December 2002.
The headcount as at 31 December 2003 was 3 (13 as at 30 June 2003 and 31
December 2002).

Carraro Korea Co. Ltd.
Carraro Korea was affected by the financial difficulties of its main customer which
lasted up to May 2003, with an adverse impact on the result for the entire period.
Today our commitment is to redefine the mission of the Korean subsidiary.
Sales for 2003 amounted to Euro 6.522m, down 30.2% on Euro 9.338m for 2002.
EBIT fell accordingly, giving an operating loss of Euro 0.761m in 2003, -11.66% of
sales (versus an operating loss of Euro 0.331m, -3.54% of sales, in 2002).
After net financial charges of Euro 0.085m (Euro 0.037m in 2002), the entity closed
2003 with a loss of Euro 1.020m (versus Euro 0.419m for the year ended 31
December 2002).
With depreciation/amortisation of Euro 0.205m, slightly lower than Euro 0.213m in
2002, the entity had a net cash outflow of Euro 0.815m (Euro 0.206 in 2002).
Capital expenditure totalled Euro 0.193m (Euro 0.062m in 2002).
The net financial position as at 31 December 2003 was debt of Euro 1.595m, a
substantial worsening on debt of Euro 0.876m as at 30 June 2003 (versus assets of
Euro 0.054m as at 31 December 2002) due to the increase of working capital.
The headcount as at 31 December 2003 was 31 (20 as at 30 June 2003 and 31
December 2002).

Share price fluctuations
The price of shares in Carraro SpA rose by 77% since the start of 2003, to an official
price of Euro 2.46 on 30 December 2003, versus Euro 1.39 on 2 January 2003. In
the course of the year Carraro shares traded at an average official price Euro 1.68.
In the first few months of the year the share price initially declined, to a low of
Euro 1.27 on 1 April 2003, than rallied and continued to rise in the remaining part
of the year, reaching a high of Euro 2.48 on 18 December 2003 (+95.28%). During
the first quarter of 2004 the share price continued to grow, reflecting the general
trend on the stockmarket; the highest quotation in the period was Euro 3.045 on 8
March 2004.

Trend and forecast for 2004
To conclude our report on the year ended 31 December 2003, which is
supplemented by a more detailed analysis of the figures in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements, it is our custom to make a few considerations on
the operations of the current year, which basically confirm our past favourable
forecasts, with sales in the first quarter of 2004 slightly more than 10% higher than
sales of the same period of 2003. Demand appears to be even stronger than this
figure indicates, but growth has been slowed by difficulties in supply which in the
case of ferrous metals have given rise to paroxysmal tensions with alarming effects
on the level of costs and incredible difficulties in provisioning. Very strong growth in
demand from China appears to be among the leading causes for this situation, but
evidently in the wake of this we cannot rule out speculative pressure at the level of
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production of and trade in the raw material. We hope this is a temporary
phenomenon, as already happened in the past at the beginning of a new financial
year, albeit never in so acute a form. Of course, on the one hand the purchasing
department is responsible for addressing the continual price rises, both by resorting
to the notion of partnership that binds us to our suppliers, and by searching for
alternative sources of supply, in line with the Group’s general strategy.
We feel the need, in concluding our comments, to express our wish for a greater
economic balance among the countries of the world, all the more necessary in an
age when markets confront one another in terms of integration. This is closely
dependent on political will, which we hope will find again a climate of international
relations suitable to accelerate a period of development to which the entire planet is
now coming. Without forgetting what can be expected of monetary policy, which –
as far as Europe is concerned – does not seem yet to have seized the opportunity of
promoting a growth which risks running aground in our continent without cuts to
interest rates.
We are aware, at any rate, that the prime engine of the economy are enterprises, in
any segment. And as an industrial enterprise our Group is determined to pursue its
strategies successfully, reaping the fruits of courageous choices.

Events subsequent to the closing date
In the course of the first quarter of 2004 Carraro International purchased bonds of
its own Eurobond 2001-2006 issue, on the stockmarket, for a total to 31 March
2003 of Euro 20,148,000. The bonds were purchased on an arm’s length basis from
institutional investors with the aim of investing excess cash. There was no
cancellation of the bonds against the corresponding debt.

Additional disclosures
With regard to the transition to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),
we have initiated a project, with the support of external consultants, with the aim of
drawing up IFRS-compliant consolidated financial statements starting from the year
ending December 31, 2005. The project involves the analysis of relevant business
and financial phenomena and the identification of the changes to be made to the
accounting procedures and financial reporting processes.

Campodarsego, March 26, 2004



Financing Trading
Financing Financing Sales of Industrial Sales of Commissions Interest Purchases Purchases of Purchases Purchases Commissions Interest

receivables payables components, services other services and income of plant, components, of industrial of other and expense
goods and rendered and sundry royalties machinery goods and services services royalties

spare parts other receivable and spare parts miscellaneous payable
charges equipment charges

Associated companies
Agritalia S.p.A. 11,430 7 488 604 156 170 16
Stm S.r.l. 796 1 655 95 135 3,670 14 4 2
Elcon S.r.l. 84 8 2 34 22

Other related parties
Fonderie del Montello S.p.A. 1,033 2 6 106 34 720 18,525 20 3
Maus S.p.A. 44 3,142 84 35
Meccanica del Piave S.p.A. 745 31 25 1,986 9 1
Diffusione Europea S.p.A. 9
E.P.S. S.r.l.

Amounts in thousand Euro

Notes:
1. Financing
Financing transactions relate to short- and long-term loans. 

2. Trading
The major trading accounts relate to purchases and sales of raw materials, semi-
finished goods and components for the manufacture of automotive systems.
Purchases of services are mainly referred to manufacturing processes. Purchases
from Maus S.p.A. relate to the supply of specific machine tools with the related
spare parts and accessories.
Major sales of services relate to charges for the use of the central information
systems and for organisational support provided by the holding company in the
various operating areas. Commissions and royalties relate to specific agency
agreements and transfer of rights for the use of industrial know-how.
Interest income is generated from loans currently in place.

Transactions of Carraro S.p.A. Group with related parties during the year ended
31 December 2003
(as per Consob Communication DAC/98015375 dated 27 February 98)







Assets December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
A) Share capital issued and not yet paid

B) Fixed assets

I. Intangible assets
1) Start-up and expansion costs 239,430 658,421
2) Research, development and advertising expenses 367,925 447,869
3) Industrial and other patent rights 193,395 227,672
4) Concessions, licences, trademarks and similar rights 
and assets 867,934 1,361,658
5) Consolidation difference 4,000,000 5,000,000
6) Assets under construction and advances 1,833,042 1,402,207
7) Other intangible assets 1,618,709 1,962,136
Total intangible assets 9,120,435 11,059,963
II. Tangible assets
1) Land and buildings 31,137,001 33,526,623
2) Plants and machinery  42,660,475 44,107,057
3) Industrial and commercial equipment 11,899,150 11,953,073
4) Other assets 3,832,419 4,995,727
5) Assets under construction and advances 1,140,251 2,462,250
Total tangible assets 90,669,296 97,044,730
III. Financial assets
1) Equity interests:
a) in subsidiaries 520,996 589,646
b) in associated companies 4,067,975 4,369,009
c) in parent companies
d) in other companies 141,509 142,927
e) advances on equity interests
2) Receivables:
a) from subsidiaries
b) from associated companies
- falling due within one year 408,785
- falling due after more than one year 4,000,000
c) from parent companies
d) from others
- falling due within one year 5,285,743 1,147,017
- falling due after more than one year 643,503 5,807,923
3) Other securitiesi 820 1,636
4) Own shares
Total Financial assets 11,069,331 16,058,158
Total fixed assets (B) 110,859,062 124,162,851
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C) Current assets

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
I. Inventory
1) Raw, materials and consumables 35,655,977 34,716,115
2) Work in progress 19,618,839 21,424,296
3) Contracted work in progress
4) Finished products and goods held for resale 9,121,330 10,496,383
5) Payments on account (advances) 875,792 498,089
Total Inventory 65,271,938 67,134,883
II. Receivables:
1) Trade debtors
- falling due within one year 84,118,353 87,991,436
- falling due after more than within one year
2) Receivables from subsidiaries
- falling due within one year
- falling due after more than within one year
3) Receivables from associated companies
- falling due within one year 2,164,160 4,013,716
- falling due after more than within one year
4) Receivables from parent companies
- falling due within one year
- falling due after more than within one year
5) Other debtors
- falling due within one year 19,741,847 22,136,087
- falling due after more than within one year 2,132,798 3,937,014
Total receivables 108,157,158 118,078,253
III. Short-term investments
1) Investments in subsidiaries
2) Investments in associated companies
3) Investments in parent companies
4) Other investments
5) Own shares
6) Other securities 71,962,134 53,988,813
Total short-term investments 71,962,134 53,988,813
IV. Cash and banks:
1) Bank and postal deposit 10,989,745 13,509,819
2) Cheques on hand
3) Cash in hand 46,258 53,337
Total cash and bank 11,911,995 14,117,559
Total current assets (C) 257,303,225 253,319,508

D) Accrued income and prepayments

- Accrued income 6,024,680 5,406,563
- Prepayments
- of amounts falling due within one year 1,006,351 1,046,706
- of amounts falling due after more than within one year 67,979 101,124
Total accrued income and prepayments (D) 7,099,010 6,554,393
TOTAL ASSETS 375,261,297 384,036,752
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Liabilities December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

A) Shareholders’ equity

I. Share capital 21,840,000 21,840,000
II. Share premium reserve 14,284,972 17,833,456
III. Revaluation reserve
IV, Legal reserve 3,120,088 3,120,088
V. Reserve for own shares in portfolio
VI. Statutory reserves
VII. Other reserves
Extraordinary reserve 272,166 3,223,553
Reserve from accelerated depreciation 4,827,497 6,901,982
Reserve from extraordinary income as per art, 55 513,741
Reserve from translation difference -13,365,300 - 10,650,023
Reserve from merger surplus
Other reserves 16,869,317 5,905,265
Total other reserves 8,603,680 5,894,518
VIII - a) Profits/(Losses) carried forward
IX - b) Consolidated profit/(loss) for the period 5,560,303 1,875,957
Total net equity of the Group 53,409,043 50,564,019
Minority interests in capital and reserves 2,205,446 3,123,896
Minority interests in profit/(loss) for the period 69,897 - 747,822
Total shareholders’ equity 55,684,386 52,940,093

B) Provisions for risks and charges

1) Provision for pensions and similar obligations 3,441,796 3,375,878
2) Provisions for taxes 262,253 317,360
3) Other provisions 7,216,942 9,586,150
Total provisions for risks and charges 10,920,991 13,279,388

C) Staff leaving indemnity (t.f.r.)
15,483,249 14,183,392

D) Payables

1) Bonds and debenture loans 100,000,000 100,000,000
2) Convertible bonds and debenture loans
3) Bank loans and overdrafts
- falling due within one year 69,209,767 72,651,570
- falling due after more than one yeari 6,932,820 13,085,915
4) Other financing creditors
- falling due within one year 388,484 514,364
- falling due after more than one yeari 59,639 440,946
5) Payments on account (advances)
- falling due within one year 347,890 275,931
6) Trade creditors
- falling due within one year 84,548,617 86,699,294
- falling due after more than one year
7) Secured payables
- falling due within one year 236,885
- falling due after more than one year
8) Payables to subsidiaries
- falling due within one year
9) Payables to associated companies
- falling due within one year 1,182,623 1,997,217
10) Payables to parent companies
- falling due within one year 16,247 22,272
11) Tax payables
- falling due within one year 2,205,382 2,915,971
- falling due after more than one year
12) Social security payables
- falling due within one year 3,110,165 2,362,829
13) Other creditors
- falling due within one year 7,544,574 6,312,679
- falling due after more than one year 4,283,813 5,138,096
Total payables 279,830,021 292,653,969

39



E) Accrued expenses and deferred incomes

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
- Accrued expenses 12,816,042 10,631,157
- Deferred income
- falling due within one year 526,608 348,753
- falling due after more than one year
Total accrued expenses and deferred incomes (E) 13,342,650 10,979,910
TOTAL LIABILITIES 375,261,297 384,036,752

Memorandum accounts

Risks
- Guarantees given on behalf of third parties 13,245,228 13,910,595
- Securities deposited as guarantee on behalf of third parties 92,962 2,159,582
Total risks 13,338,190 16,070,177

Commitments
- Commitments to repurchase equity interests 1,112,345 1,112,345
- Other commitments 103,291 103,291
Total commitments 1,215,636 1,215,636
TOTAL RISKS AND COMMITMENTS 14,553,826 17,285,813

Other memorandum accounts 
which do not reflect risks or commitments
- Guarantees received from third parties 1,898,922 2,843,658
- Mortgages 6,197,483 6,197,483
- Pledges on securities
- Guarantees given by third parties on behalf of Carraro 23,138,903 30,751,669
- Swaps on accounts payable
- Swaps on accounts receivable 12,755,344 36,825,274
- Interest Rate Swaps 155,000,000 165,329,138
- Forward Rate Agreements 245,000,000 155,000,000
- Foreign currency options 106,627,368 22,620,589
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Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2003
Income Statement 

A) Value of production

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
1) Revenue from sales and services 389,874,058 381,059,268
2) Changes in stocks of work in progress
and finished goods -2,969,297 3,948,199
3) Changes in contracted work in progress
4) Own work capitalised 657,918 511,610
5) Other income 5,469,062 4,460,241
- Grants 59,653 52,319
- Other 5,409,409 4,407,922
Total value of production (A) 393,031,741 389,979,318

B) Cost of production

6) Cost of raw materials, consumables, 
spare parts and other goods 219,211,560 210,839,610
7) Cost of services 66,137,341 64,299,891
8) Cost of utilisation of third parties' assets 1,323,881 1,430,782
9) Personnel costs:
a) Salaries and wages 44,079,132 45,741,519
b) Social contributions 13,881,724 13,825,245
c) Staff leaving indemnity (t.f.r.) 2,612,396 2,665,956
d) Pensions and similar obligations 370,114 411,001
e) Other costs 1,319,413 2,386,978
Total (9) 62,262,779 65,030,699
10) Depreciation and write-downs:
a) Amortisation of intangible assets 3,147,851 3,516,217
b) Depreciation of tangible assets 19,059,187 19,300,731
c) Other write-downs of assets 8,747,710
d) Write-downs of receivables  
included in current assets 121,502 1,390,501
Total (10) 22,328,540 32,955,159
11) Changes in stocks of raw materials,
consumables, spare parts and other goods -2,325,599 - 3,395,242
12) Accruals for contingencies 17,770 392,044
13) Other accruals 3,671,399 3,389,825
14) Other operating charges 1,290,929 1,498,031
Total cost of production (B) 373,918,600 376,440,799
Difference between value and cost of production (A - B) 19,113,141 13,538,519
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C) Financial income and charges

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
15) Income from participating interests 10,976
16) Other financial income:
a) - from receivables recorded as fixed assets 21,198 29,584

- other 66,000
b) from securities recorded as fixed assets
c) from securities recorded as current assets 19,674 297,420
d) other financial income:
from subsidiaries
from associated companies 137,254 254,087
from parent companies
Other 20,161,957 26,502,015
Total (d) 20,299,211 26,756,102
Total (16) 20,340,083 27,149,106

17) Interest and other financial charges:
from subsidiaries
from associated companies 2,288 14,408
from parent companies
other 28,526,102 34,332,022
Total (17) 28,528,390 34,346,430
Total financial income and charges (15 + 16 - 17) -8,188,307 - 7,186,348

D) Adjustments to the value of financial assets

18) Revaluations:
a) of equity interests 108,687
b) of short-term investments
c) of securities recorded as current assets
Total (18) 108,687

19) Write-downs:
a) of equity interests 320,341 260,190
b) of short-term investments
c) of securities recorded as current assets
Total (19) 320,341 260,190
Total adjustments (18 - 19) -320,341 - 151,503

E) Extraordinary income and expenses

20) Income
- Gains on disposal 21,945 784,831
- Taxes of prior periods
- Other extraordinary income 255,862 1,459,298
Total (20) 277,807 2,244,129

21) Expenses
- Losses on disposal 952
- Taxes of prior periods 28,812 593,458
- Other extraordinary expenses 1,122,255 3,094,510
Total (21) 1,152,019 3,687,968
Total extraordinary items (20 – 21) -874,212 - 1,443,839
Profit/(loss) before taxes (A-B+/-C+/-D+/-E) 9,730,281 4,756,829
22) Taxes on income 4,100,081 3,628,694
23) Profit/(loss) for the period 5,630,200 1,128,135
Minority interests in profit/(loss) for the period 69,897 - 747,822
26) Profit/(loss) for the period of the Group 5,560,303 1,875,957
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Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2003 
Net financial position

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Bank loans and overdrafts:
- falling due within one year 69,210 72,652
- falling due after more than one year 6,933 13,086
Other financing creditors:
- falling due within one year
- falling due after more than one year
- leasing payments falling due within one year 388 514
- leasing payments falling due after more than one year 60 441
Debenture loans:
- falling due within one year
- falling due after more than one year 100,000 100,000
Secured payables:
- falling due within one year 237
- falling due after more than one year
Net balance of interest prepayments, accruals and deferrals 6,589 4,818

less:
Cash and bank -11,912 - 14,118
Securities -71,962 - 53,988
Loans given -1,913 - 6,378
Factoring receivables -25
Consolidated net financial position 97,368 117,264
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December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

Net financial position at beginning of period -117,264 - 125,504

allocation sources allocation sources
Profit/(Loss) for the period 5,560 1,876
Minority interests in profit/(loss) for the period 70 748
Depreciation of tangible assets 19,059 19,301
Amortisation of intangible assets 3,148 3,516
Write-downs of assets 8,748
Outflow/Inflow of funds 27,837 32,693

Current business activity

Accruals to staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R.) 2,612 2,666
Utilisation of staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R.) 1,312 3,067
Accruals to provision for pensions and similar obligations 370 411
Utilisation of provision for pensions and similar obligations 206 253
Accruals to provisions for risks and charges 3,689 3,781
Utilisation of provisions for risks and charges 6,477 3,017
Accruals to provision for deferred taxes 84 15
Utilisation of provision for deferred taxes 83 1,803
Change in inventory 1,863 2,426
Change in trade debtors 3,873 8,963
Change in receivables from subsidiaries,
associated companies, parent companies 976 641
Change in other debtors 4,221 9,103
Change in trade creditors 2,151 7,325
Change in payables to subsidiaries,
associated companies, parent companies 820 830
Change in other creditors 484 7,663
Change in other than interest prepayments,
accruals and deferrals 48 42
Outflow/Inflow of funds from current business activity 7,171 2,378
Total current business activity 35,008 30,315

Non current business activity

Accruals/Extraordinary expenses 265 1,707
Investing activities:
- Additions to tangible assets 17,348 16,259
- Investment in intangible assets 1,292 2,356
- Net change from disposal and consolidation 4,748 17,190
Equity interests:
- Acquisition of equity interests 19 590
- Accrual for exchange losses from depreciation of Arg. peso 4,300
- Net revaluation/write-down of interests carried at equity 320 151
- Commitments to purchase equity interests
- Change in ‘other equity interests’
Advance payment of employees’ personal income tax 
(IRPEF) on staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R.) 170 219
Change in receivables recorded as fixed assets 929 14
Outflow/Inflow of funds from non-current business activity 12,227 7,638

Equity management

Net change in consolidation area and minority interests 2,885 14,437
Dividend payments
Outflow/Inflow of funds from equity management 2,885 14,437
Net financial position at end of period -97,368 - 117,264

Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2003 
Cash flow statement
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1. Purpose of Group companies 
The main corporate purpose of Carraro Group companies is to manufacture and sell automotive systems for agricultural tractors,
construction equipment, material handling equipment, light commercial vehicles and cars.

Carraro Group, organised into four Business Units, each dedicated to a specific segment (Drivelines, Drives, Components, Spare Parts),
designs, manufactures and sells automotive systems for agricultural tractors, construction equipment, material handling equipment,
light commercial vehicles and cars and stationary applications (escalators).

2. Presentation and contents of the consolidated financial statements
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the layout and accounting policies laid down in
Legislative Decree No. 127/91 and with the guidelines issued by CONSOB, the Italian Stock Exchange Commission.
The consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2003 have been drawn up on the basis of the financial statements prepared
by the directors of group companies in compliance with the provisions of the Italian Civil Code and comprise the Balance sheet, the
Income statement and these Notes to the consolidated financial statements which show amounts relating to the consolidated financial
statements as at 31 December 2002 as comparatives.
These consolidated financial statements are presented in euro. Euro amounts are shown without decimals, as allowed by art. 2423 of
the Civil Code as amended, effective 1 January 2002, by art. 16, item 8, letter a) of Legislative Decree No. 213/98. The schedules
contained in the notes to the consolidated financial statements are expressed in thousands of euro.

3. Consolidation area 
The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise the annual financial statements of Carraro S.p.A. and of those companies in
which it holds, either directly or indirectly, a majority of voting rights at the annual general meeting.

The following entities are consolidated on a line-by-line basis:

Legal name Registered office Currency Nominal value Percentage 
of capital stock held

SIAP S.p.A. Maniago (PN) Euro 10,122,616 100%
A.E. S.r.l. Castello d’Argile (BO) Euro 10,000 90%
Carraro Deutschland GmbH Hattingen (Germany) Euro 10,507,048 100%
Carraro Argentina S.A. Haedo, Buenos Aires (Argentina) Pesos 25,809,288 93.90%
Carraro India Ltd. Ranjangaon - Pune (India) Rupie 400,000,000 51%
F.O.N. S.A. Radomsko (Poland) Zloty 7,058,220 84.788%
Carraro International S.A. Lussemburgo Euro 9,850,000 99.99%
Carraro North America Inc. Calhoun - Georgia (USA) US$ 100 100%
Carraro Korea Ltd. Ulsan (Republic of Korea) KWon 3,000,000,000 100%
O&K Antriebstechnik Gmbh & Co. KG Hattingen (Germany) Euro 2,045,168 100%

The main changes in the consolidation area during the period are illustrated below.

On 23 December 2003 Carraro S.p.A. acquired a 90% interest in A.E. S.r.l., a company based in Castello d’Argile (Bologna) that
processes and assembles axles, with net equity equal to Euro 10,000 and total assets equal to Euro 1.642m as at 31 December 2003.
In consideration of the fact that the acquisition date was very close to the year-end date, only the balance sheet values of A.E. S.r.l. were
consolidated as at 31 December 2003.  

The following equity interests subscribed in 2002 by Carraro S.p.A. and by Siap S.p.A. were transferred to Carraro India Ltd. in the course
of 2003:

Parent Legal name Registered office Currency Nominal value Percentage
company of capital stock held

Carraro India Ltd. Carraro PNH Components India Ltd. Bombay (India) Indian Rupee 10,000,200 99.998%
Carraro India Ltd. Turbo Gears India Ltd. Bombay (India) Indian Rupee 20,000,200 99.999%

The carrying values of those equity interests are equal to Euro 173,665 for Carraro PNH Components Ltd. and to Euro 347,331 for
Turbo Gears India Ltd.
These entities are currently idle, their only significant asset is industrial land. They have been excluded from the consolidation area due
to their immateriality.

It should also be noted, with reference to the net equity of the individual consolidated entities, that the following amounts are recorded
by way of payment towards capital increase:

- USD 7,000,000 for Carraro North America Inc.;
- Euro 10,532,613 for Carraro Deutschland GmbH.
- Peso 10,935,441 for Carraro Argentina S.A..

As for minority interests, we note that Simest S.p.A. has a 6% equity interest in Carraro Argentina S.A. which Carraro S.p.A. is committed
to repurchasing within the agreed term.

Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2003 
Explanatory notes 



4. Basis of consolidation and accounting policies 

4.1 Basis of consolidation 

Values are consolidated on a line-by-line basis, i.e. all assets, liabilities, costs and revenues of the individual entities are consolidated
regardless of the percentage owned.
For the purposes of consolidating foreign-based entities, we have used balance sheet and income statement schedules specially
prepared according to the layout of the schedules adopted by the holding company and compiled in application of accounting policies
common with those applied by Carraro S.p.A.. Where necessary, to bring the closing dates of foreign entities in line with that of the
holding company, the directors prepared interim financial information using the same policies applied for the year-end reporting.
The carrying value of consolidated equity interests, owned by Carraro S.p.A. or by other entities included in the consolidation, has been
eliminated against the corresponding share of net equity of the subsidiary undertakings.
Net equity and profit for the period attributable to minority interests are shown on separate lines, respectively, of the consolidated
balance sheet and of the consolidated income statement.
Differences between the purchase cost and the value of the corresponding share of the net equity of participating interests at the date
on which the entities are first included in the consolidation, subject to allocation, where possible, to specific items within assets, are
stated on a line called ‘Consolidation difference’ in the assets section of the balance sheet, or directly charged to the consolidated net
equity on the line ‘Reserve from consolidation’. Differences originating from the purchase of additional shares or parts (‘quote’), after
the first year of consolidation, are stated as a contra entry to the ‘Reserve from consolidation’, or charged to the consolidated income
statement.
Significant transactions between consolidated entities, and accordingly the related receivables, payables, costs and revenue, as well as
unrealised gains from operations between group entities, have been eliminated.
Financial information expressed in a foreign currency has been translated into Euro at the year-end exchange rate in the case of assets
and liabilities, at historical exchange rates for equity components and at the average exchange rate of the period for income statement
amounts. Any exchange differences originating from this method are stated on a specific line within net equity called ‘Reserve from
translation difference’.
The rates applied to translate foreign currency-denominated financial information are the following:

Legal name Currency Average exchange rate of 2003 Exchange rate of 31.12.2003

Carraro India Ltd. Indian Rupee 53.0529 57.5820
FON S.A. Polish Zloty 4.3877 4.7019
Carraro North America Inc. US Dollar 1.1312 1.2630
Carraro Korea Ltd. South Korean Won 1,346.8095 1,506.3200
Carraro Argentina S.A. Argentine Peso 3.3271 3.7450

4.2 Accounting principles and policies 

In the consolidated financial statements, for consistency of presentation, the same accounting policies and principles were
adopted as those applied in the previous period.
The accounting principles used are those applicable to going concerns, which the directors believe to be appropriate in light of
the considerations made in the report on operations.

The accounting policies and principles applied to the most significant financial statements items are illustrated below.

a) Intangible assets
Intangible assets, if purchased from third parties, are stated at purchase cost inclusive of directly attributable accessory charges;
if self-developed, at the purchase cost of the assets or services used, plus direct and indirect labour and relevant accessory
charges. Amounts are shown after amortisation allowances, computed on a straight-line basis with reference to the estimated
useful life of the assets.

b) Tangible assets
Tangible assets are stated at purchase, transfer or own work cost, increased by monetary revaluations accounted for in
compliance with the law. Cost includes any specific financial charges incurred up to the time the asset goes into service.
The costs of improvements, revamping, transformations and extraordinary maintenance are capitalised as increases in the value
of the relevant assets. The corresponding ordinary costs are expensed as incurred. Fully depreciated assets remain on the
balance sheet until scrapped or disposed of.
Depreciation is accounted for at rates suitable to reflect the actual depreciation of the asset, on the basis of its estimated
economic life. Assets under construction are not depreciated. In the event that, regardless of depreciation already accounted for,
an impairment loss has occurred, then the asset is written down accordingly; if in a subsequent period the reason for the write-
down no longer applies, then the write-down is reversed.
Finance leases are accounted for by recording the present value of lease payments, including redemption value, within tangible
assets. The principal portion of liabilities for lease payments and the redemption amount are stated within liabilities on the line
‘Other financing creditors’ falling due within or beyond one year, depending on the term of the lease. In the income statement,
depreciation is accounted for as if the asset had been purchased, and the principal portion of lease payments charged in the
statutory financial statements of consolidated entities is eliminated.

c) Financial assets
Equity interests of 20% or more in entities in which the Group does not exercise control are carried at equity. If not significant,
they are carried at cost, adjusted to reflect any impairment losses.
Receivables recorded within financial assets are carried at estimated realisable value.

d) Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of average purchase or production cost of the year and market. Production cost includes
materials, labour, and direct and indirect manufacturing costs. Obsolete or slow-moving inventories are suitably written down.
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e) Receivables and payables
Receivables are stated at estimated realisable value. This corresponds to nominal value adjusted by a specific bad debt provision
that covers both accounts that are already know to be uncollectible and doubtful accounts included in the overall balance.
Payables are stated at nominal value.
Accounts denominated in currencies not belonging to the Euro area are adjusted to the official exchange rate at the period end
and the resulting gains or losses are taken to the income statement; receivables and payables in foreign currency falling due in
the medium term are adjusted to period-end exchange rates.

f) Short-term investments
Securities held for trading purposes are carried at the lower of cost, including any premium, and market, determined as the
average trading price of the last month.
Other short-term investments are valued at the lower of cost and market.

g) Cash and bank
Cash and bank balances are stated at nominal value.

h) Prepayments, accruals and deferrals
Costs and revenues are accounted for on an accrual basis, with reference to the period to which they relate.

i) Provisions for risks and charges
Accruals for risks and charges are posted to cover losses or liabilities that are certain or probable, the amounts and dates of
occurrence of which cannot be determined exactly at the year end.
Provisions for taxes include the liability for probable taxes, the amounts and dates of occurrence of which cannot be determined
exactly, such as liabilities for probable tax assessments or litigation pending, valued on the basis of their foreseeable outcome.

l) Staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R.)
Provision is made for the liability towards personnel in compliance with existing legislation and labour contracts.

m) Derivative contracts
Forward exchange agreements are valued as follows:
a) If entered into to hedge for accounts payable and receivable, consistently with the accounting policies applied to the
underlying assets and liabilities;
b) If entered into to hedge for projected exports, any exchange differences realised during the period on those transactions are
recorded as adjustments to the value of sales revenue in that they are considered to be of a commercial nature; the premium
or discount accruing on contracts still outstanding at the period end is taken to the income statement and recorded within
financial income or charges;
c) If entered into for trading purposes, consistently with the accounting policies applied to the receivables and payables
denominated in foreign currency.

Derivative contracts hedging for interest rate risks are valued under the same accounting policies as the liabilities hedged.

n) Costs and revenue
Costs and revenue are recognised in accordance with the principle of prudence, on an accrual basis, and the relevant
prepayments, accruals and deferrals are accounted for.
Revenue from sales is recognised on transfer of ownership, which generally corresponds to shipment. Revenue from services is
recognised at the time the service is rendered.

o) Infra-group transactions
In compliance with CONSOB’s Recommendations dated 20 February 1997 (DAC/97001574) and 27 February 1998
(DAC/98015375), we state that:
a) Transactions with Group companies and related parties during the period gave rise to trading, financing or consulting
receivables/payables and were carried out, on an arm’s length basis, in the economic interests of the individual entities involved;
and
b) There were no unusual transactions beyond the scope of the ordinary course of business and the interest rates (receivable
and payable) and terms applied in financing transactions between the various entities were at arm’s length.

p) Current income taxes
Current income taxes are provided for on the basis of an estimate of taxable income of consolidated entities in compliance with
existing legislation and in consideration of applicable exemptions.

q) Deferred taxes
The individual entities provide for deferred taxes on temporary differences between the result of operations as per the statutory
accounts and taxable income. The contingent fiscal benefit connected with both temporary differences and losses available for
carryforward is accounted for when reasonable certainty exists that sufficient taxable income will be available in future to allow
its recovery. Additional deferred tax assets and/or liabilities originate from the tax effect of consolidation adjustments, mainly
due to the capitalisation of assets under lease, to intercompany stock and to value adjustments to goodwill, with reference to
local tax legislation.
Deferred tax liabilities are provided for on a specific line under heading B) of the liabilities section of the balance sheet, deferred
tax assets are recorded within other debtors on line C.II.5 of the assets section.
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5. Analysis of financial statements items and changes from previous year 

Balance sheet - assets 

B.I. Intangible assets 
As at 31 December 2003 intangible assets totalled Euro 9.12m, versus Euro 11.06m as at 31 December 2002.
The balance may be analysed as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description Start-up Research and Industrial Concessions Difference Assets under Other Total
and expansion development and other licences, trademarks from construction intangible 

costs expenses patent rights and similar rights consolidation and advances assets

Historical cost 2,252 1,680 814 4,659 17,630 1,402 6,130 34,567
Accumulated amortisation -1,594 -1,232 -586 -3,297 -4,454 -4,168 -15,331
Svalutazioni -8,176 -8,176
NBV as at 31.12.2002 658 448 228 1,362 5,000 1,402 1,962 11,060
Movements 2003:
Increases 80 73 177 614 348 1,292
Capitalisation -5 5 0
Amortisation -374 -155 -108 -675 -1,000 -836 -3,148
Other changes 3 -3 -157 143 -14
Change in consolidation area 3 7 10
Exchange differences -51 -5 -21 -3 -80
NBV as at 31.12.2003 239 368 193 868 4,000 1,833 1,619 9,120
Comprising:
- Historical cost 2,207 1,755 887 4,839 17,630 1,833 6,623 35,774
- Accumulated amortisation -1,968 -1,387 -694 -3,971 -5,454 -5,004 -18,478
- Write-downs -8,176 -8,176

The line ‘start-up and expansion costs’ may be analysed as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Cost of start-up and amendments to company by-laws 24 54
Start-up cost of new manufacturing units 215 604
Total 239 658

‘Cost of start-up and amendments to company by-laws’ relates mainly to costs incurred in 1999 by Carraro International S.A. and in
2003 by A.E. S.r.l..

‘Start-up cost of new manufacturing units’ relates essentially to the costs incurred to start up the manufacturing operations of Carraro
India Ltd. and to take them to operate at capacity.

Research and development expenses relate to the capitalisation of costs relating to the designing of new product lines developed in
connection with similar projects started by customers. Other studies concerning products are still in the design stage and are recorded
within assets under construction.

The item ‘Difference from consolidation’ shows the value originating from the consolidation entries of O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co.
KG, being the difference between the price originally paid for the purchased equity interest and the current values of the assets and
liabilities of the invested entity.

As at 31 December 2002 the net book value of that goodwill was revised to Euro 5.00m, and at the same time it was considered
appropriate to reduce the remaining useful life of the goodwill as 5 years. Today we confirm the validity of those assumptions.
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B.II. Tangible assets
As at 31 December  2003 tangible assets totalled Euro 90.67m, versus Euro 97.05m as at 31 December 2002.
The balance may be analysed as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description Land Plant Industrial  Other Assets under Total
and and equipment assets construction 

buildings machinery and advances

Historical cost 44,868 140,106 71,510 21,770 2,462 280,716
Accumulated depreciation -11,341 -95,831 -59,153 -16,774 -183,099
Write-downs -168 -404 -572
NBV as at 31.12.2002 33,527 44,107 11,953 4,996 2,462 97,045
Movements 2003:
Increases 712 8,731 5,662 793 1,450 17,348
Decreases -448 -75 -18 -541
Capitalisation 189 816 444 -1,449 0
Change in consolidation area 53 336 150 48 587
Depreciations -1,362 -10,000 -6,031 -1,666 -19,059
Change in advances -1,079 -1,079
Reclassification 6 311 -245 -120 -48
Exchange differences -1,988 -1,192 -204 -76 -124 -3,584
NBV as at 31.12.2003 31,137 42,661 11,899 3,832 1,140 90,669
Comprising:
- historical cost 43,840 146,173 77,206 21,810 1,140 290,169
- accumulated depreciation -12,703 -103,344 -64,903 -17,978 -198,928
- write-downs -168 -404 -572

Tangible assets include leased assets for a value of Euro 14.30m, already depreciated for an amount of Euro 12.60m.
Increases during the period in ‘Plant and machinery’ relate mostly to the purchase of automated and generic machinery by Carraro
S.p.A. and Siap S.p.A.; as for ‘Industrial equipment’, the most significant additions were cast moulds and tooling purchased by Carraro
S.p.A. and Siap S.p.A..
The significant balance of exchange differences is a consequence of the adjustment to period-end exchange rates of asset balances and
was generated mainly by large fluctuations in the course of the year in exchange rates, in particular of the US dollar and the Indian
rupee.

The item ‘Other assets’ may be analysed as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Furniture and fixtures 2,011 2,725
Office machines 1,394 1,895
Cars and forklift trucks 427 376
Total 3,832 4,996

Tangible assets are encumbered by mortgages and liens in favour of banks and other financing creditors for facilitated loans received.

B.III.  Financial assets 

B.III.1  Equity interests 

Changes in equity interests during 2003 are detailed as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description NBV as at Increases/ Decreases Write-downs/ Change in NBV as at 
31.12.2002 Acquisitions/ Revaluations consolidation 31.12.2003

Capital area
contributions

Equity interests in subsidiaries:
Carraro PNH Components India Ltd. 197 174 -197 174
Turbo Gears India Ltd. 393 347 -393 347
Equity interests in associated companies:
STM S.r.l. 2,602 -94 2,508
Agritalia S.p.A. 1,767 -219 1,548
Elcon S.r.l. 19 -7 12
Equity interests in other companies 143 143
Total 5,102 540 -590 -320 4,732
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B.III.1.a  Equity interests in subsidiaries
The balance of Euro 0.59m may be detailed as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Parent company Legal name Registered office Percentage held  Carrying value

Carraro India Ltd. Carraro PNH Components India Ltd. Mumbay (India) 99.998% 174
Carraro India Ltd.. Turbo Gears India Ltd. Mumbay (India) 99.999% 347

In the course of 2003 these equity interests were transferred from Carraro S.p.A. and Siap S.p.A. to Carraro India Ltd.

B.III.1.b. – Equity interests in associated companies
-STM S.r.l., with registered office in Maniago (PN), 50% owned by SIAP S.p.A., has been valued at equity, which brings the carrying value
to Euro 2.51m.
-Agritalia S.p.A., with registered office in Rovigo, 33.33% owned by Carraro S.p.A., has been valued at equity, which brings the carrying
value to Euro 1.55m. 
-Elcon Elettronica S.r.l., with registered office in Trieste, is owned at 24.9% by Carraro S.p.A.. The increase in the equity interest, for an
amount of Euro 0.019m, was effected on 17 March 2003 by the partial waiver of an existing loan; the contribution was allocated to loss
coverage and to recapitalisation. The carrying amount was then adjusted to the net equity value.

B.III.1.d. – Equity interests in other companies
This line relates to minority equity interests held for an amount of Euro 0.08m by Carraro S.p.A., for an amount of Euro 0.01m by SIAP
S.p.A., and for an amount of Euro 0.05m by O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG.

B.III.2.b. – Receivables from associated companies

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description Balance as at Increases Reclassification Reclassification Repayments Foreign exchange Balance as at 
31.12.2002 long-/short-term adjustments 31.12.2003

Loan to STM S.r.l.:
- falling due within one year 409 409
- falling due after more than one year 4,000 -409 -3,591
Total receivables from associated companies 4,000 -3,591 409

The amount of receivables from associated companies, equal to Euro 0.41m, relates entirely to an unpaid loan, originally for an amount
of Euro 4.00m, disbursed by SIAP S.p.A. to STM S.r.l..

B.III.2.d. – Receivables from others

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description Balance as at Increases Reclassification Reclassification Repayments Foreign exchange Balance as at 
31.12.2002 long-/short-term adjustments 31.12.2003

Loan to Fonderie del Montello:
- falling due within one year 1,033 1,033
Advance on employees’ personal 
income tax (IRPEF) 
on staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R.) 773 21 -191 603
Change in consolidation area 40 40
Sundry receivables 5,149 -896 4.253
Total receivables from others 6,955 61 -191 -896 5,929

The balance receivable as at 31 December 2003 of the loan originally amounting to Euro 3.62m given by Carraro S.p.A. to the former
subsidiary Fonderie del Montello S.p.A. was equal to Euro 1.03m.
The advance on employees’ personal income tax (IRPEF) on the staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R.), equal to Euro 0.60m, was computed and
utilised in accordance with the law.
The balance of Euro 4.25m in sundry receivables relates, for an amount of Euro 4.18m, to an account receivable booked by Carraro
North America Inc. and originating from a finance lease on proprietary real estate. The decrease due to foreign exchange adjustments
originates from the fluctuation of the exchange rate of the euro to the US dollar during the period.

C.I. Inventory

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description Balance Balance Change in Obsolescence Obsolescence NBV NBV
31.12.2002 31.12.2003 consolidation provision provision 31.12.2002 31.12.2003

area 31.12.2002 31.12.2003

Raw materials 37,038 38,639 28 -2,322 -3,011 34,716 35,656
Work in progress 22,524 20,491 12 -1,100 -833 21,424 19,619
Finished products 12,121 10,740 1 -1,625 -1,621 10,496 9,121
Total 34,645 31,231 13 -2,725 -2,504 31,920 28,740
Goods in transit 498 876 498 876
Total inventory 72,181 70,746 41 -5,047 -5,515 67,134 65,272

The balance of inventory as at 31 December 2003 was Euro 65.27m, versus Euro 67.13m as at 31 December 2002.

The provision for obsolescence, totalling Euro 5.52m, is detailed as follows: Euro 3.01m for raw materials and consumables, Euro 0.88m
for work in progress and Euro 1.62m for finished goods. The amounts booked do not differ substantially from a valuation at current
costs at the period end.
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C.II. – Receivables
Changes in receivables are analysed as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Trade debtors 84,118 87,991
Receivables from associated companies 2,164 4,014
Other debtors 21,875 26,073
Total receivables 108,157 118,078

Receivables from associated companies relate to Agritalia S.p.A. for an amount of Euro 1.38m, STM S.r.l. for an amount of Euro 0.64m
(including Euro 0.39m in financing receivables) and Elcon Elettronica S.r.l. for an amount of Euro 0.14m (including Euro 0.06m in
financing receivables).

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Treasury for VAT 9,236 11,519
Treasury for IRPEG, corporation tax 
and IRAP, trade income tax (advances) 1,962 2,178
Treasury for tax withholdings 86 54
Export incentives 1,249 1,503
Credits for tax paid abroad 85
Deferred tax assets 6,129 7,800
Treasury for other credits 228 207
Social security institutions 230 127
Social security institutions 25
Guarantee deposits 119 114
Other 2,423 2,471
Refund of registration tax applied for 103 100
Total other debtors 21,875 26.073

Receivables from the Treasury include VAT which the Italian entities have already applied for refund of, for an amount of Euro 3.97m,
and VAT credits of foreign companies, for an amount of Euro 4.42m.
Export incentives receivable relate mostly to Carraro Argentina for an amount of Euro 0.62m and to Carraro S.p.A. for an amount of
Euro 0.59m.
Changes in the most significant balances are explained as follows:
-VAT credits decreased mainly as a result of refunds received in 2003 by Carraro S.p.A., Siap S.p.A. and Carraro Argentina S.A.;
-Credits for IRPEG and IRAP advances decreased following lower advances paid in 2003;
-Deferred tax assets decreased mainly as a result of utilisation by Carraro S.p.A. (Euro 1.45m), Carraro North America Inc. (Euro 0.07)
and O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG (Euro 0.05), and of a decrease generated by consolidation entries (Euro 0.10 Ml).
Deferred tax assets, equal to Euro 6.13m, relate to the balances booked by Carraro S.p.A., Carraro Deutschland and O&K Antriebstechnik
for tax paid in advance. The deferred tax assets have been recorded on the assumption that they will be recovered through the reporting
of sufficient future taxable income, which is considered probable on the basis of the present business plans. 
The balance as at 31 December 2003 of ‘Other debtors’ also includes an amount receivable by Carraro S.p.A. for factored tax credits
(Euro 0.57m), the remaining balance owed by Meccanica Fananese S.r.l. for the sale of the former Trenton business (Euro 0.87m), and
advances to employees of Carraro Argentina S.A. for an amount of Euro 0.25m).

C.III. Short-term investments

6) Other securities 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Commercial paper 36,795 16,656
Certificates of Credit of the Treasury (CCT) 73 2,162
Treasury bonds (BTP) 93 171
Other 35,001 35,000
Total 71,962 53,989

The balance of Euro 36.79m relates to a short-term investment by Carraro S.p.A. in commercial paper, secured by a bank guarantee.
Most treasury securities are deposited with banks to secure the guarantees given by them against facilitated loans from special credit
institutions to Carraro S.p.A. and its subsidiaries.
The line ‘Other’ relates to short-term investments by Carraro International on certificates of deposit issued by Société Européenne de
Banque.

Treasury securities are valued at the lower of cost, including any premium, and market, determined on the basis of the average price
for the month of December 2003.
Other investments recorded within current asses are valued at the lower of cost and market.

Changes in balances compared with 31 December 2002 reflect the effect of the Group’s treasury management policies in relation to
the overall financial position.
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C.IV. Cash and bank

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Bank deposits 10,990 13,510
Cash on hand 46 555
Cheques 876 53
Total 11,912 14,118

The decrease in the balance of cash and bank is related to the change in borrowings from banks. Overall, as detailed in the schedule
on the net financial position accompanying the financial statements schedules, net debts to banks decreased from Euro 72.23m as at
31 December 2002 to Euro 65.15m as at 31 December 2003 as a result of both a decrease in securities holdings and an increase in
working capital surplus also due to the collection of VAT refunds obtained by Carraro S.p.A..

D) Accrued income and prepayments  

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Short-term accrued interest income 6,005 5,285
Medium-/long-term accrued interest income 0 101
Other accrued income 20 20
Total accrued income 6,025 5,406
Short-term interest prepayments 21 21
Medium-/long-term interest prepayments 6 12
Short-term insurance prepayments 296 183
Medium-/long-term insurance prepayments 8 8
Other short-term prepayments 689 843
Other medium-/long-term prepayments 54 81
Total prepayments 1,074 1,148
Total accrued income and prepayments 7,099 6,554

Accrued interest income relates mostly to interest accruing on financing investments made by Carraro International S.A. for an amount
of Euro 1.51m, and by Carraro S.p.A. (commercial paper and treasury securities) for an amount of Euro 0.05m, besides the effect of
the Interest Rate Swap entered into by Carraro International S.A. and Mediobanca to hedge the interest flows generated by the above-
mentioned Eurobond (Euro 4.14m).
Other prepayments relate mainly to technical service fees owed in respect of future periods and insurance premiums paid in advance.
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Balance Sheet - Liabilities

A) Net equity 

Movements in net equity during 2003 are analysed as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description Balance Profit for FY 2002 Profit for FY 2002 Translation Change in Reclassification Other Profit for FY Balance as at
as at appropriated appropriated difference consolidation movements 2002 31.12.2003

31.12.2002 to reserves to dividends area

I Share capital 21,840 21,840
II Share premium reserve 17,833 -5,506 1,958 14,285
III Revaluation reserve
IV Legal reserve 3,120 3,120
V Reserve for own shares 
in portfolio
VI Statutory reserves
VII Other reserves 5,895 1,876 -2,715 5,506 -1,958 8,604
VIII Profit/(Loss) 
carried forward
IX Consolidated profit/(loss) 
for the period 1,876 -1,876 5,560 5,560
Net equity of the Group 50,564 -2,715 5,560 53,409
Minority interests 
in capital and reserves 3,124 -748 -172 1 2,205
Minority interests  
in profit/(loss) for the period -748 748 70 70
Total net equity 52,940 -2,887 1 5,630 55,684

Share capital  
Share capital of Carraro S.p.A., fully subscribed and paid in, stands at Euro 21,840,000 and is subdivided into 42,000,000 ordinary
shares of Euro 0.52 each.

Share premium reserve
The beginning amount of Euro 17.83m was generated upon the flotation of Carraro S.p.A. on the Italian Stock Exchange. As a result of
the utilisation of the reserve from accelerated depreciation to cover the loss for the year ended 31 December 2002 reported by Carraro
S.p.A., the share premium reserve was partly re-appropriated, for an amount of Euro 5.51m, to the reserve from accelerated
depreciation.
Of the latter, a total of Euro 1.96m was reclassified as share premium reserve as a result of depreciation charged to the 2003 income
statement in the statutory financial statements in excess of the amount fiscally deductible and following disposals of depreciable assets
on which accelerated depreciation had been charged in the past.

Legal reserve
There were no movements in the legal reserve of Carraro S.p.A. in the course of 2003.

Other reserves
Heading VII includes, with reference to Carraro S.p.A., the extraordinary reserve of Euro 0.27m and the reserve from accelerated
depreciation of Euro 3.55m.
Moreover, this heading also includes the reserve from translation differences for an amount of Euro -13.37m due to the effect of the
translation into Euro of the financial statements of foreign group entities.

No taxes have been provided for on the tied equity reserves because, as they are not planned to be distributed, at present the
requirement for recording the corresponding tax charge is not met.

Minority interests in capital and reserves
The year-end balance of Euro 2.275m, including the portion of profit for the period equal to Euro 0.070m, represents the interest of the
minority shareholder Simest S.p.A., computed with reference to the commitment to repurchase the latter’s interest in the subsidiary
Carraro Argentina S.A., as well as minority interests in Carraro India Ltd., F.O.N. S.A. and A.E. S.r.l..

B – Provisions for risks and charges
Movements in provisions for risks and charges are detailed as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description Balance Change in Exchange rate Reclassification Increases Decreases Balance
31.12.2002 consolidation area adjustments 31.12.2003

B1 - Provision for pensions 
and similar obligations 3,376 -91 -7 370 -206 3,442
B2 - Provisions:
- for deferred taxes 317 -9 -47 84 -83 262
B3 - Other provisions:
- product warranty 5,338 -50 -237 3,671 -3,435 5,287
- other   4,248 30 -56 -1,038 643 -1,898 1,929
Total 13,279 30 -206 -1,329 4,768 -5,622 10,920
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The provision for pensions and similar obligations of Euro 3.44m relates to similar provisions booked by F.O.N. S.A. (Euro 0.51m) and
O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG (Euro 2.93m).
Increases relate to accruals recorded by F.O.N. S.A. (Euro 0.14m) and O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG (Euro 0.23m).
Decreases relate to utilisations by F.O.N. S.A. (Euro 0.20m) and O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG (Euro 0.01m).

The provision for deferred taxes originates from accruals made by Siap S.p.A. (Euro 0.18m) and Carraro North America (Euro 0.08m).
The decrease originates, for an amount of Euro 0.08m, from utilisation by Siap S.p.A.. The reclassification of Euro 0.05m relates to the
amount offset against deferred tax assets by O&K Antriebstechnik.

As for litigation, with reference to Carraro S.p.A. we note that the litigation with INPS, the national social security, started in 1996 for
alleged omission to pay social charges, was closed on 5 October 1999 by the Court of First Instance of Padua in favour of Carraro. The
proceeding is currently before the Court of Cassation for a final judgement. On the basis of the information currently available, our
assessment that the claims by the national social security are groundless is unchanged and we do not believe, based on our consultants’
opinion, that the risk profile of the litigation has changed.

The product warranty provision was partly utilised, for an amount of Euro 3.44m, for payments to customers and increased, for an
amount of Euro 3.67m, with reference to the estimated warranty costs to be incurred in relation to sales made.

As to changes in the balance of ‘Other provisions’, the increase of Euro 0.64m relates, for the most part, to accruals for restructuring
costs and other personnel-related charges made by O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG for an amount of Euro 0.16m, and to accruals
for costs relating to litigation pending with employees made by Carraro Argentina S.A. for an amount of Euro 0.46m.

Utilisations, totalling Euro 1.90m, relate mostly to the implementation of the corporate reorganisation plan at Carraro S.p.A.
(Euro 0.02m), O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG (Euro 1.65m) and Carraro Argentina (Euro 0.19m). The balance of Euro 1.04m
under the column ‘Reclassification’ relates to amounts payable to personnel of O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. reclassified within
payables.

The year-end balance of ‘Other provisions’ includes:
-Euro 1.31m for the estimated future charges that will be incurred to implement the reorganisation plans at Carraro S.p.A. (Euro 0.84m)
and SIAP S.p.A. (Euro 0.06m), and to implement the restructuring plans already started at O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG
(Euro 0.41m);
-The remaining balance relates to accruals by the individual entities for future risks and charges, including Euro 0.53m for charges
related to litigation with personnel at Carraro Argentina S.A..

C) Staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R., Trattamento di fine rapporto di lavoro subordinato) 

Movements in the staff leaving indemnity were as follows:

Valori in migliaia di Euro

Description Balance as at Increases Change in Exchange rate Decreases Transfers/ Balance as at
31.12.2002 consolidation area adjustments reclassification 31.12.2003

Workers 9,568 1,623 705 -8 -1,438 -6 10,444
Clerks and executive 4,615 989 111 -9 -675 8 5,039
Totali 14,183 2,612 816 -17 -2,113 2 15,483

Movements in the staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R.) are recorded in compliance with the law and cover the indemnities earned as at 31
December 2003 by 1,602 workers, 457 clerks and 39 executives. The column ‘Decreases’ relates to advances and indemnities paid out
and also includes amounts earned by employees transferred between Group companies and changes in qualification.
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D) Payables 

Changes in the balance are analysed as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Bonds and debenture loans 100,000 100,000
Bank loans and overdrafts (see analysis)
- falling due within one year 69,210 72,652
- falling due after more than one year 6,933 13,086
Other financing creditors (see analysis)
- falling due within one year
- falling due after more than one year
- leases falling due within one year 388 514
- leases falling due after more than one year 60 441
Advances 348 276
Trade creditors 84,549 86,699
Secured payables:
- falling due within one year 237
- falling due after more than one year
Payables to subsidiaries
Payables to associated companies 1,183 1,997
Payables to parent companies 16 22
Tax payables 2,205 2,916
Social security payables 3,110 2,363
Other creditors (see analysis) 11,828 11,451
Total 279,830 292,654

The amount of ‘Bonds and debenture loans’, equal to Euro 100m, relates to a non-convertible debenture loan, denominated in Euro,
issued by Carraro International S.A. on 29 May 2001 and expiring in 2006 against which an Interest Rate Swap has been entered into
to hedge for interest rate risk.
Payables to associated companies include Euro 1.07m owed to STM S.r.l., Euro 0.07m owed to Agritalia S.p.A., and Euro 0.04m owed
to Elcon Elettronica S.r.l..
Analyses and comments on the changes in other debtors are set out below.

Bank loans and overdrafts may be analysed as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Current accounts and export advance accounts 59,905 63,540
Exchange rate adjustments to export advances -1,258 -1,305
Short-term loans in other currencies 7,471 6,922
F.R.I.E. loan
Interbanca loan 326 326
Medio Credito Centrale as per Law No. 100/90 2,766 2,988
IMI loan 181
Total short-term 69,210 72,652
Long-term loans in other currencies 1,973 5,034
Medio Credito Centrale as per Law No. 100/90 3,817 6,583
Exchange rate adjustments to loansi 
Interbanca loan 1,143 1,469
IMI loan
Total medium-/long-term 6,933 13,086
Total bank loans and overdrafts 76,143 85,737

Bank loans and overdrafts totalled Euro 76.14m (giving a credit balance of Euro 7.73m when offset against credit balances, investment
in securities and cash balances), versus Euro 85.74m as at 31 December 2002 (which gave a debit balance of Euro 17.63m when offset
against credit balances, investment in securities and cash balances), which is evidence of the effects of the debt reduction measures
taken starting from FY 2002.

55



Other financing creditors may be analysed as follows: 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Leases falling due within one year 388 514
Total short-term 388 514
Leases falling due beyond one year 60 441
Total medium/long-term 60 441
Total other financing creditors 488 955

The decrease in the balance relates mostly to the gradual repayment of payables referred to leases.

Tax payables include:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
VAT owed for settlement 4 4
Income taxes 202 620
Employees’ personal income tax (IRPEF) 1,773 1,839
Other IRPEF withholdings 226 152
Other tax withholdings 301
Total 2,205 2,916

Other creditors include:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Employees’ remuneration 2,363 1,914
Other amounts payable to employees 4,521 3,715
Amounts owed to employees’ trade unions 24 21
Amounts payable to corporate boards 343 75
Other 4,577 5,726
Total 11,828 11,451

The balance as at 31 December 2003 includes the remaining Euro 4.18m payable by Carraro North America Inc. in relation to the
purchase of an industrial building at Calhoun (Georgia).

Accrued expenses and deferred income 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Accrued interest expense – short-term 12,236 10,029
Accrued interest expense – medium-/long-term
Accrued personnel expenses – short-term 530 523
Other short-term accrued expenses 50 79
Total accrued expenses 12,816 10,631
Deferred interest income – short-term 385 209
Deferred interest income – medium-/long-term
Deferred income from grants – short-term
Deferred income from grants – medium-/long-term
Other short-term deferred income 142 140
Total deferred income 527 349
Total accrued expenses and deferred income 13,343 10,980

Accrued interest expense includes interest accruing on the debenture loan issued by Carraro International S.A., for an amount of
Euro 4.142m, and on a hedge for interest rate risk relating to the same bond, for an amount of Euro 6.304m. The remaining amount
relates to interest accruing on advances, overdrafts and loans from banks and financial institutions.
Accrued personnel expenses relate to the additional months’ salaries owed to workers and clerks.
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Memorandum accounts

Amounts in thousand Euro
Descriptions Carraro Siap C. Int. O&KA Fon C. India C. Korea C. Argentina Total

A) Guarantees given on behalf of third parties 13,245 13,245
B) Securities deposited as guarantee 
on behalf of third parties 93 93
Total riscks 13,245 93 13,338
C) Commitmens
- Commitments to repurchase equity interests 1,112 1,112
-  Other commitmens 103 103
Total commitmens 1,215 1,215
Altri:
D) Guarantees given from third parties 1,899 1,899
E) Mortgages 6,197 6,197
F) Guarantees given by third parties 
on our behalf 23,139 23,139
G) Swaps on accounts reicevable 1,699 2,112 2,304 5,692 949 12,755
H) Interest Rate Swap 55,000 100,000 155,000
I) Forward Rate Agreement 110,000 135,000 245,000

L) Forreign currency options 60.307 3.121 43.199 106,627

Riscks
A) Guarantees given on behalf of third parties are given to banks on behalf of subsidiaries against loans given to the latter.
B) Securities deposited as guarantee on behalf of third parties are pledges on Treasury securities in favour of banks against loans given
by them to Carraro subsidiaries or against bank sureties given for facilitated loans obtained by Carraro subsidiaries.

Commitments
C) Commitments to repurchase equity interests as at 31 December 2003 relate to the interest in Carraro Argentina S.A. owned by
Simest S.p.A., in accordance with the terms of contractual agreements.

Other memorandum accounts which do not reflect risks or commitments

Guarantees received from third parties
D) This item relates, for an amount of Euro 1.03m, to the remaining amount of the guarantee received from FINAID S.r.l. to secure a
loan originally of Euro 3.62m granted to Fonderie del Montello S.p.A. and, for an amount of Euro 0,87m, to a guarantee received from
Banca Popolare dell’Emilia Romagna to secure the payment of the amount owed for the sale of the former Trenton business by
Meccanica Fananese S.r.l. originally equal to Euro 2.30m.

Guarantees given on our own behalf
E) This item relates to a mortgage taken out on an industrial building in Poggiofiorito (SIAP S.p.A.) against a loan.

Guarantees given by third parties on behalf of Carraro
F) This item relates to guarantees given by banks, insurance companies and the parent company FINAID S.r.l. to various institutions,
mostly relating to VAT refunds, building permits, loans or credit facilities and delayed payments.

Exchange rate and interest rate hedges
G) Swaps on accounts receivable:
This item relates to swaps and forward agreements relating to sales denominated in foreign currency and forecast for the subsequent
months on the basis of the purchasing plans submitted by customers. Contracts are entered into with banks and financial institutions.
H/I) Interest rate hedges (Interest Rate Swaps and Forward Rate Agreements):
This item relates to contracts entered into with banks to hedge for the risk of exchange rate fluctuations on loans or other debt
instruments in place.
The most significant contracts were made to hedge for the exchange rate risks originating from the debenture loan issued by Carraro
International S.A.. In particular, the operation involves two Interest Rate Swaps entered into by Carraro International (Euro 100m) and
Carraro S.p.A. (Euro 55m) and some Forward Rate Agreements entered into by Carraro International (Euro 135m) and Carraro S.p.A.
(Euro 110m).
L) Currency options:
For hedging purposes, Carraro S.p.A., Siap S.p.A. and Carraro Argentina S.A. have entered into currency options worth Euro 60.31m,
Euro 3.12m and Euro 43.2m, respectively, as at 31 December 2003.

For your information we report below the fair market values as at 31 December 2003 of the hedges in place at that date, by category
(negative values in brackets):

Foreign currency options Euro  5,463 Ml.
Domestic currency swap Euro  (0,007) Ml.
Interest rate swap Euro  0,983 Ml.
Forward rate agreement Euro  (0,077) Ml.
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Income statement

The main changes in consolidated income statement amounts are illustrated below.

A) Value of production 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
1) Ricavi delle vendite e delle prestazioni
Traditional axles 212,762 208,090
Axels for light commercial vehicles 7,663 8,019
Forklift axles 24,069 25,328
‘Power shuttle’ transmissions 19,615 19,561
Agricultural transaxle 20,836 14,544
Cam phaser devices 4,690 5,285
Clutches 1,232 1,644
Gears 22,389 24,203
Spare parts 25,779 22,357
Drive systems for escalators 9,633 6,152
Final & Swing drives 17,201 18,646
Other components 16,703 16,247
Other revenue 7,302 10,983
Total 1) 389,874 381,059
2)  Change in stocks of work in progress and finished products
- Opening stocks (excluding goods in transit) -34,645 -31,602
- Changes in consolidation area, translation differences and reclassifications 211 1,421
- Adjustment to provision for obsolescence 221 -516
- Closing stocks (excluding goods in transit) 31,244 34,645
Total 2) -2,969 3,948
3) Change in contracted work in progress
4) Own work capitalised 658 512
5) Other income
- grants 59 52
- export incentives 1,695 1,695
- ordinary gains 328 853
- other 3,387 1,860
Total 5) 5,469 4,460
Total value of production 393,032 389,979

Sales for 2003 grew by 2.3% on the prior year, as a result of higher sales of traditional axles, driven by the introduction of new products
for large customers, and higher sales of agricultural transaxles.
The value of sales has been adjusted for the reclassification of exchange gains for an amount of Euro 10.35m (vs. exchange gains of
Euro 3.40m  in 2002). 
Additional comments on the trend of sales are set out in the directors’ report on operations.
Included within extraordinary income on the line ‘Other gains’ are adjustments to rebates provided for by Carraro S.p.A. in prior years
and reversed in 2003 on the basis of the renegotiation of trade agreements.

Revenue may be broken down by territory as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Italy 65,034 76,295
EU 163,815 161,082
North America 81,327 84,377
Other foreign sales 79,698 59,305
Total 389,874 381,059

Foreign sales as a percentage of the total rose to 83.32%, versus 79.98% of FY 2002. Sales within the EU, excluding Italy, were equal
to Euro 163.82m, those outside the EU were equal to Euro 161.03m.
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B) Cost of production 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
6) Raw materials, consumables and goods for resale
- Raw material purchases 215,340 206,283
- Raw material returns -1,672 -1,353
Total 213,668 204,930
Other cost of production:
- Miscellaneous consumables  1,238 1,072
- Consumable tooling 3,386 3,462
- Maintenance material 1,729 1,759
- Materials and services for resale 672 504
- Volume rebates and discounts -1,481 -887
Totale 5,544 5,910
Total 6) 219,212 210,840
7) Cost of services
Outsourced production services:
- Processing 24,972 23,578
- Maintenance 4,510 3,942
- Other industrial services 5,432 4,735
- Freight, transportation and customs 4,865 4,750
- Temporary workshop workers 1,570 1,450
Total 41,349 38,455
Sundry supplies (utilities) 4,906 4,640
General expenses:
- Refund of travel expenses 1,916 1,909
- Stationery 414 370
- Postage and telephone 850 892
- Miscellaneous external services 2,328 2,696
- Long-term car rentals 387 314
- Temporary office workers 131 29
- Consulting 2,650 3,482
- Directors’ emoluments 1,588 1,338
- Statutory auditors’ emoluments 162 213
- Company policies 1,246 1,270
- Technical service fees 1,599 1,775
- Sundry company expenses 783 538
Total 14,054 14,826
Marketing costs:
- Advertising 74 90
- Trade fairs 155 38
- Other 186 238
Total 415 366
Selling expenses:
- Payments under warranty 2,847 2,518
- Freight, transportation and customs 4,726 5,193
- Utilisation of product warranty provision -2,699 -2,336
- Commissions and royalties 277 259
- Packaging and other selling expenses 262 379
Total 5,413 6,013
Total 7) 66,137 64,300
8) Cost of utilisation of third parties’ assets
- Rent 1,177 1,254
- Royalties payable 147 177
- Other
Total 8) 1,324 1,431
9) Personnel costs
- Wages 27,079 27,345
- Salaries 17,000 18,396
- Social contributions on wages 9,088 8,837
- Social contributions on salaries 4,793 4,989
- Staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R.) - workers 1,623 1,671
- Staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R.) - clerks and executives 989 994
- Accruals for pensions and similar obligations 370 411
- Company canteen 587 583
- Other personnel costs 734 1,805
Total 9) 62,263 65,031
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10) Depreciation and write-downs December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
- Amortisation of intangible assets 3,149 3,516
- Depreciation of tangible assets 19,059 19,301
- Write-downs of fixed assets 8,748
- Write-downs (losses on bad debts) 121 1,390
Total 10) 22,329 32,955
11) Changes in stocks of raw materials
- Opening stocks (excluding goods in transit) 37,038 36,925
- Changes in consolidation area, translation differences and reclassifications -1,386 -3,495
- Adjustment to provision for obsolescence 689 213
- Closing stocks (excluding goods in transit) -38,667 -37,038
Total 11) -2,326 -3,395
12) Accruals for contingencies 18 392
13) Other accruals
- Product warranty 3,671 3,390
- Scheduled maintenance
- Other risks
Total 13) 3,671 3,390
14) Other operating charges
- Association dues 185 187
- Cost of institutional reporting of listed companies 120 148
- Taxes and other duties 509 804
- Ordinary losses 44 187
- Other operating charges 433 171
Total 14) 1,291 1,497
Total cost of production 373,919 376,441

Purchases of raw materials, consumables and goods rose from Euro 204.93m to Euro 213.67m. If one considers also changes in
stocks, total consumption went from Euro 207.45m to Euro 216.89m and was equal to 55.63% of sales, versus 54.44% in 2002, a
change attributable to a different mix of products sold.

Fluctuations in other production costs during the year, with reference to the most significant changes, may be summarised as -Cost
of services went from Euro 64.30m (16.9% of sales) to Euro 66.14m (16.96% of sales), a slight increase both in absolute terms and
as a percentage of total sales; in particular, the increase relates to the cost of outsourced work, industrial services and temporary
workers and is attributable to the measures taken to reorganise production at certain sites, accompanied by the headcount reduction
programme started in 2001;
-Personnel costs decreased by Euro 2.77m (-4.26%) on FY 2002 as a consequence of the successful headcount reduction programme
started in 2001;
-Depreciation decreased as a result of lower capital expenditure in recent periods.

C) Financial income and charges 

C15) Income from participating interests 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Other income from participating interests 11
Total 11
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C16) Other financial income 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
a) from receivables recorded as fixed assets 21 96
c) from securities recorded as current assets 20 297
d) other financial income:
- from subsidiaries
- from associated companies 137 254
- from parent companies
Other:
- interest income on loans 34 44
- interest income on bank and postal deposits 213 940
- interest income from the Treasury 40 160
- other interest income 11,064 8,695
- income from hedging operations 134 375
- exchange gains 8,677 16,288
Total d) 20,162 26,756
Total 20,340 27,149

C17) Interest and other financial charges 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Interest on loans to associated companies 2 14
Interest expense on bank deposits 1,621 800
Interest expense on bank overdrafts 2,925 2,067
Interest expense on loans 14,445 14,440
Interest expense on leases
Financial charges on hedging operations 11 17
Commission and other bank charges 180 223
Exchange losses 9,224 16,519
Other 120 266
Total 28,528 34,346

Net financial charges, the balance of lines C16 and C17, amounted to Euro 8.19m, versus Euro 7.197m for FY 2002.
If we exclude net exchange losses (Euro 0.55m), and net income from hedging operations (Euro 0.12m), net financial charges totalled
Euro 7.76m, versus Euro 7.32m for FY 2002.
As a percentage of sales, financial charges less exchange losses were equal to 1.99%, versus 1.92% in FY 2002.

D) Adjustments to the value of financial assets
The revaluation of equity interests of Euro 0.109m represents the contra entry in the income statement of the equity valuation of the
interest STM S.r.l..
The write down of Euro 0,260m relates to Agritalia S.p.A. (Euro 0,247) and elcon S.r.l. (Euro 0,013m).

E) Extraordinary income and expenses 

E20) Extraordinary income

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Gains on disposal 22 724
Income from participating interests 61
Taxes of prior periods
Extraordinary income 143 1,103
Other extraordinary income 113 356
Total 256 1,459
Total E20) 278 2,244
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E21) Extraordinary expenses

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Losses on disposal 1
Taxes of prior periods 29 593
Extraordinary expenses 271 410
Other extraordinary expenses 851 2,685
Total 1,122 3,095
Total E21) 1,152 3,688

The balance of extraordinary income and expenses gave net extraordinary expenses of Euro 0.874m and relates to later income from
suppliers and customers as well as minor adjustments to be considered ordinary in relation to the volume of business.
‘Other extraordinary expenses’ includes extraordinary costs to be incurred for the integration and completion of the personnel
reorganisation programme at Carraro Argentina for an amount of Euro 0.46m and at Carraro North America for an amount of
Euro 0.12m.

Income tax for the period 

The tax charge for the period comprises the following:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Current taxes 5,452 3,915
Tax credit on dividends -2,747
Deferred taxes 1,395 -286
Total 4,100 3,629

The value of current taxes includes IRPEG of SIAP S.p.A. for an amount of Euro 0.61m and of Carraro S.p.A. for an amount of Euro 1.89m,
and IRAP of Carraro S.p.A. for an amount of Euro 2.19m and of SIAP S.p.A. for an amount of Euro 0.61m.
Deferred taxes are the balance of deferred tax assets of Euro 0.16m and deferred tax liabilities of Euro 1.45m booked by the individual
entities, plus deferred tax liabilities of Euro 0.11m originating from consolidation entries.

Headcount

The number of employees shown below relates solely to the entities consolidated on a line-by-line basis and is broken down by category:

Employee category December 31, 2002 Change in  Changes December 31, 2003
consolidation area

Executives 33 6 39
Clerks 481 9 -33 457
Workers 1,536 54 12 1,602
Temporary staff 51 -17 34
Total 2,101 63 -32 2,132

The decrease in headcount reflects the implementation at Group companies of the restructuring plan for 2003.

Reconciliation with annual financial statements

A reconciliation between the profit for the period and net equity of the Group resulting from the consolidated financial statements and
the profit for the period and shareholders’ equity of Carraro S.p.A. is as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description Profit/(Loss) for the Shareholders' equity Profit/(Loss) for the Shareholders' equity
current period current period prior period prior period

Profit for the period and shareholders' equity of Carraro S.p.A. 8,311 51,376 -8,972 43,066
Profit for the period and net equity of participating interests -1,179 62,437 -16,696 71,377
Aggregate 7,132 113,813 -25,668 114,443
Elimination of carrying value of participating interests 4,891 -63,838 34,448 -68,721
Consolidation adjustments -6,393 5,709 -7,652 7,218
Minority interests -70 -2,275 748 -2,376
Profit for the period and net equity of the Group 5,560 53,409 1,876 50,564

Consolidation adjustments relate mostly to finance leases, to the determination of the ‘intercompany stock profit’, to the equity valuation
of associated companies and subsidiaries not included in the consolidation, and to value adjustments to goodwill, as well as to deferred
taxes on those entries.

These consolidated financial statements, comprising the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated income statement and the notes
thereto, present fairly the consolidated financial position and result of operations for the year ended 31 December 2003.
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Board of Auditors’ Report

63

To the Shareholders
During the financial year ending on 31 December 2003 we carried out the activity of supervision foreseen by the law, according to the
Board of Auditor principles of behaviour recommended by the National Counsel of Certified Public Accountants and Bookkeepers.
In particular and in compliance with indications supplied by the CONSOB in their communication of 6 April 2001, we report the
following:
- We ensured compliance with the law and memorandum of association.
- We obtained information from the administrators, on at least a quarterly basis, concerning the business conducted and the most
important economic, financial and patrimonial operations carried out by the company and its controlled affiliates, and can reasonably
ensure that the actions deliberated and carried out are in conformity with the law and the articles of association and are not to be
considered manifestly imprudent, risky, to potentially represent a conflict of interest, to be in contrast with the deliberations of the
shareholders’ meeting or to be such that they jeopardize company assets.
- We acquired information on and ensured, to the extent of our competence, the adequacy of the company’s organisational structure,
respect of the principles of correct administration and the adequacy of dispositions imparted by the company to controlled affiliates, in
accordance with Article 114, sub-paragraph 2 of Legislative Decree 58/98, through collection of information from persons in charge of
the organisational function and meetings with the auditing agency to mutually exchange important data and information and, in this
connection, we have no particular observations to report.
- We have supervised and evaluated the system of internal control and the administrative and accounting system, as well as its reliability
in correctly representing operational items, through collection of information from persons responsible for the respective functions,
examination of company documents and analysis of the results of work performed by the auditing agency, supervising personnel
assigned to perform internal controls and, in this connection, we have no particular observations to report.
- We have held meetings with auditing agency personnel in accordance with Article 150, sub-paragraph 2, Legislative Decree 58/98,
and no important data or information has emerged that must be included in the present report.
- We have detected no abnormal or unusual operations carried out with companies belonging to the group or correlated parts thereof.
- There have been unusual operations carried out with other subjects. In particular, on 23 December 2003, Carraro S.p.A. acquired from
Same Deutz Fahr Italia S.p.A. a 90% share in Assali Emiliani S.r.l., a company that currently covers 75% of the axle requirements of the
Same Deutz Fahr Group, which is one of the foremost builders of tractors in the world. The operation was carried out concomitantly
with the stipulation of a contract with this group for the supply of axles by Carraro S.p.A. and the cost of the participation was 9,000
euro. This operation is adequately described in the administrators’ management report.
- We have also noted intra-group operations concerning ordinary economic-patrimonial and financial relations with controlled and
connected affiliates. In particular:
- Credits and debits relative to short and long term financing, which as at 31.12.2003 amounted respectively to 15.148 and 55 million
euro; the financial debt of 55 million euro represents a bonded loan issued by Carraro S.p.A. that was entirely underwritten by Carraro
International S.A.;
- Revenues from the sale of components, products and spare parts relative to the production of haulage systems for a total of 19.640
million euro;
- The sale of services consisting in charges for the use of central information technology systems and organisational support by the
group leader in the various functional areas, for a total of 1.014 million euro;
- Receivable commissions and royalties that refer to specific agreements for commercial representation and the sale of rights for
utilisation of industrial “know-how” and receivable interest generated by financing, for a total of 1.462 million euro;
- Costs for the purchase of components, products and spare parts relative to the production of haulage systems and costs for the
purchase of plants, machinery and equipment, respectively amounting to 35.768 and 0.003 million euro;
- The purchase of services referring prevalently to industrial processing, for a total of 0.554 million euro;
- Payable commissions and royalties with reference to specific agreements for commercial representation and the sale of rights for the
utilisation of industrial “know-how” and interest payable on the cited bonded  loan, for a total of 4.144 million euro.
The above operations are deemed to be of adequate consideration and be in harmony with the interests of the company.
- We have noted operations with other correlated parties, primarily in connection with:
- Granting financing for 1.033 million euro as at 31.12.2003;
- Revenues from the sale of components, products and spare parts relative to the production of haulage systems, for a total of 0.293
million euro;
- Sales of services consisting in charges for the use of central information technology systems and organisational support supplied by
the group leader in the various functional areas, for a total of 0.179 million euro;
- Interest receivable produced by financing, for a total of 0.034 million euro;
- Costs for the purchase of components, products and spare parts relative to the production of haulage systems and costs for the
purchase of plants, machinery and equipment, respectively for 20.105 and 3.847 million euro;
- The purchase of services with reference to industrial processing, for a total of 0.042 million euro.
The above operations are deemed to be of adequate consideration and be in harmony with the interests of the company.
- We have not noted other atypical and/or unusual operations made with correlated parties, which are capable of significantly affecting
the economic, patrimonial and financial situation of the company.
- In the report made by the auditing agency, there were no calls for information and no important events were noted.
- No violations of Article 2408 of the Civil Code were reported, nor were any claims made by third parties.
- The information provided by the Administrators in their management report on atypical and/or unusual operations within the group
and with correlated parties is considered adequate.
- We have noted the company’s adherence to the Code of Self Discipline drawn up by the Committee for Corporate Governance of
Quoted Public Stock Companies.
- In compliance with the obligations introduced by Legislative Decree 231/2001, preparatory activity for the creation of an
“Organisational Model” was initiated, with a “mapping” of behaviour practices within the company and the definition of the Organ of
Surveillance foreseen in the above-mentioned decree.
- PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A. auditors were conferred with further duties for the year 2003 with respect to accounting revision, for
a total of 18,000 euro, relative to accounting consolidation procedure and balance sheet accounting verifications for balance sheets



drawn up in the English language and verifications on “Compliance with Financial Covenants” as at 31.12.2002 and 30.06.2003.
- No duties have been assigned to subjects entertaining continuous relations with the auditing agency for the year 2003.
- The Board of Auditors did not issue the opinions envisioned by the law during the financial year, but the auditing agency issued
certifications during 2003 (Compliance with Financial Covenants) as foreseen by the regulations for the bonded loan made by the
controlled Luxembourg affiliate.
- On 14 January 2003 the Board of Directors took on Gabriele Del Torchio as a member of the Board of Directors, following the
resignation of Board Member Angelo Mocellini. Mr. Del Torchio was named Managing Director and the necessary powers were conferred
upon him.
- On 14 May 2003 the Shareholders’ Meeting named the new components of the Board of Directors and the Board of Auditors.
- On 29 May 2003 the Board of Directors confirmed Mr. Gabriele Del Torchio as Managing Director, attributing the necessary powers to him.
- The balance sheet includes the burden for competence of the Managing Director’s variable retribution of 250,000 euro, commensurate
with the consolidated result of the financial year, as proposed by the Remunerations Committee. This compensation, which has not yet
been disbursed, must be approved by the Assembly, since the deliberation of 14 May 2003 had indicated an overall compensation for
the entire Board of Directors, which did not include the above-mentioned integrative emolument.
The above-described activity of supervision was carried out through fourteen (14) Board of Auditor meetings and participation in the
Board of Directors’ meetings, in accordance with Article 149, paragraph 2 of Legislative Decree 58/98, of which a total of nine (9)
meetings were held. The President of the Board of Auditors also participated at the three (3) meetings held by the Internal Control
Committee.
During the activity of supervision and on the basis of information obtained from the auditing agency, no reprehensible omissions, facts
and/or irregularities were noted, nor any facts of a sufficiently significant nature as to require information to the organs of control or
mention in the present report.
As group leader, Carraro S.p.A. has prepared the group’s consolidated balance sheet, complete with the prescribed report, has submitted
it to revision by the appointed auditing agency and presented it to the shareholders’ meeting.
For the above reasons, the Board of Auditors hereby express their favourable opinion for approval of the balance sheet for the financial
year ending on 31 December 2003, as presented by the Board of directors, and agrees with the Board of Directors’ proposal for
allocation of profits, with the distribution of a dividend of 0.11 euro per share.
Padua, 20 April 2004

The Board of statutory auditors

(Antonio Cortellazzo)

(Renzo Lotto)

(Francesco Secchieri)

Carraro S.p.A. Shareholder’s Meeting Board of Auditors’ Report on the consolidated balance sheet

To the Shareholders
The consolidated balance sheet for the financial year closing as at 31st December 2003 was drawn up by the Board of Directors of the
Carraro S.p.A. Group leader and is made up of the asset and liability statement, profit and loss account, the accompanying notes and
several complementary prospectuses.
This documentation, together with the administrators’ report, was made available to the shareholders in accordance with the law.
The balance sheet was audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A, without observations.
The Board of Auditors examined the criteria adopted in formulation of the balance sheet, with special reference to the area of
consolidation and uniformity in application of accounting principles.
The controls performed enabled the Board of Auditors to ascertain that the balance sheet complies with procedures in accordance with
pertinent laws in force.
Padua, 20 April 2004

The Board of statutory auditors

(Antonio Cortellazzo)

(Renzo Lotto)

(Francesco Secchieri)
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Auditors’ Report 
in accordance with article 156 of Law Decree N° 58 dated 24 February 1998

To the Shareholders of
Carraro SpA

1 We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Carraro SpA as of December 31, 2003. These
consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the directors of Carraro SpA. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.

2 We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards and criteria recommended by
CONSOB (the Italian Regulatory Commission for Companies and the Stock Exchange). Those standards
and criteria require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain the necessary assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement and, taken as a whole, are
presented fairly. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by the directors. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

For the opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the prior period, which are presented for
comparative purposes as required by law, reference is made to our report dated April 22, 2003.

3 In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Carraro SpA as of December 31, 2003
comply with the laws governing the criteria for their preparation; accordingly, they give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position and of the consolidated results of operations of the company.

Padua, April 20, 2004

PricewaterhouseCoopers SpA

Nicola Piovan
(Partner)

This report has been translated from the original which was issued in accordance with the Italian legislation.



Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of Carraro SpA held on 14 May 2004

Chairman: Mario Carraro

Shareholders present: 17 in person or by means of proxy representing 58.265% of the share capital equating to 42 million ordinary
shares with the right to vote.

The ordinary shareholders’ meeting approved:

-The financial statements as of 31 December 2003 and the Report of the Board of Directors;

-The allocation of the net income of Euro 8,310,562 for its entire amount as follows:

-Euro 415,528 equating to 5% to the legal reserve;
-Euro 4,620,000 to the dividend to be distributed to the shareholders to the extent of Euro 0.11 per share held, on which the ordinary
full tax credit is due which may be utilized by those entitled to it in accordance with current legislation;
-Euro 3,204,990 to the reserve for accelerated depreciation;
-Euro 70,044 to the extraordinary reserve;

-The variable fee to be allocated to the Managing Director for the year 2003;

-The fee for the Directors for 2004 involving a maximum amount of Euro 1,950,000, deferring to the Board of Directors the division of
the fixed amount of Euro 1,300,000 on the basis of the effective appointments and functions performed by the directors and the division
of the variable amount of Euro 650,000 to be assigned to the Chairman and to the Managing Director, in addition to the above amount
as linked to the achievement of specific consolidated net income by the Carraro Group;

-The granting of the appointment for the certification of the financial statements relating to the three-year period 2004-2006 to the
independent auditing firm Reconta Ernst & Young S.p.A..
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